

# The interplay between energy technologies and human health: Implications for energy transition

Downloaded from: https://research.chalmers.se, 2024-05-01 17:40 UTC

Citation for the original published paper (version of record):

Seddighi, S., Anthony, E., Seddighi, H. et al (2023). The interplay between energy technologies and human health: Implications for energy transition. Energy Reports, 9: 5592-5611. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2023.04.351

N.B. When citing this work, cite the original published paper.

research.chalmers.se offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all kind of research output: articles, dissertations, conference papers, reports etc. since 2004. research.chalmers.se is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library

ELSEVIER

**Review** article

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### **Energy Reports**



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/egyr

## The interplay between energy technologies and human health: Implications for energy transition

Sadegh Seddighi<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Edward J. Anthony<sup>c,\*\*</sup>, Hamed Seddighi<sup>d,\*\*</sup>, Filip Johnsson<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Division of Energy Technology, Chalmers University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden

<sup>b</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, K.N. Toosi University of Technology, Iran

<sup>c</sup> Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Canada

<sup>d</sup> Faculty Of Behavioural And Social Sciences, University of Groningen, The Netherlands

#### ARTICLE INFO

#### ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 27 February 2023 Received in revised form 31 March 2023 Accepted 19 April 2023 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Energy technology Pandemic Health Energy security Air pollution This paper explores the relationship between human health and energy technologies, with a focus on how energy technology needs to adapt to new health challenges. The authors examine how a clean, affordable, and reliable energy infrastructure is critical for mitigating the impact of future pandemics. They also look at how increasing the proportion of solar and wind energy can create a near-zero emission energy system that is independent of fuel supply and its associated environmental problems. However, to ensure system resilience, significant investments in energy storage and smart control systems are necessary. For instance, the pandemic led to around 5% increase in US residential sector electricity consumption share in 2020 compared to 2019 due to stay-at-home orders, which could impact grid reliability and resiliency. This work also highlights the importance of designing energy-efficient and low-cost cooling and heating technologies for residential buildings to protect vulnerable populations from the health consequences of rising temperatures due to climate change. Additionally, the growing number of refugees worldwide and the need for efficient portable power sources in refugee camps are also addressed. The authors demonstrate how pandemics like COVID-19 can have far-reaching effects on energy technologies, from household energy use to large energy companies, and result in energy insecurity and decreased quality of life for many.

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	5593
2.	Impacts of energy technologies on human health	5593
	2.1. The importance of reliable energy sources for human health	5593
	2.2. Energy pollution impacts on human health	5594
	2.3. Environmental spendings and pandemic recovery budgets	5597
	2.4. Urban planning, energy efficiency and health	5599
	2.5. Centralized vs decentralized energy industry and health	5599
	2.6. The paradox of energy-efficient transport and health	5600
3.	Impacts of the pandemics on energy technologies	5601
	3.1. Economy downturn and energy industry	5601
	3.2. The impacts of health on energy industry staff and equipment	5602
	3.3. Energy generation mix and distribution of energy use between sectors	5603
	3.4. Chemical/petrochemicals markets in health-related products	5604
	3.5. Pandemic impact on air guality	5605
4.	Conclusions	5605
	Declaration of competing interest	5606
	Data availability	5606
	References	5606

\* Corresponding author at: Division of Energy Technology, Chalmers University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden. \*\* Corresponding authors.

*E-mail addresses:* sadeghsk@kth.se (S. Seddighi), eanthony@uottawa.ca (E.J. Anthony), h.seddighi@rug.nl (H. Seddighi), filip.johnsson@chalmers.se (F. Johnsson).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2023.04.351

2352-4847/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### 1. Introduction

The appropriate utilization of energy is critical to our wellbeing. It helps families with sufficient income to remain healthy by providing the energy required for cooking and heating, cooling and air conditioning (HVAC). While industrial processes associated with power production support public and private transport systems, provide access to jobs and living arrangements, and also ensures the functioning of the communications networks needed to maintain electricity supplies (Wilkinson et al., 2007; Peng et al., 2021). In general, electricity consumption is an indicator of overall life quality. Thus the growth in electricity consumption in the US has been directly associated with the annual gross domestic product (GDP) since 1950 (Arora and Jozef, 2014). Therefore, it is unsurprising that the United Nations (UN) includes affordable clean energy and health among the key Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) within its Agenda 2030 framework (UN, 2016). While both health and clean energy are defined by the UN as separate SDGs, recent wars, climate-related disasters and pandemics highlight the linkages between human health and energy use. The emergence of disasters such as pandemics or the Ukraine war create global crises, forcing large-scale changes not only for the healthcare sector, but also for many other social and economic sectors, necessitating behavioral changes (Van Bavel et al., 2020) and changes to industrial structures (Craven et al., 2020). In 2003, the Harvard Medical School predicted that man-made changes in ecologic systems and climate can lead to a plethora of emerging diseases (Epstein et al., 2003). Similarly, Danish researchers (Lorentzen et al., 2020) have argued that the global biodiversity crises and climate change are interconnected with pandemics and underline the importance of national and international investments in sustainable solutions that address climate change. Moreover, climate change appears to be increasing the rates of transmission of infectious diseases (Wu et al., 2016). The unprecedented heat waves and high temperatures resulting from climate change have serious health consequences, especially for cardiovascular diseases. Many researchers have noted that we are living in a period in which human activity profoundly affects the biosphere, using the term Anthropocene to describe the era in which human activity is the dominant influence on climate and the environment. Thus, both the direct and indirect consequences of human activity and modern technology affect us all, especially in terms of climate change and phenomena such as pandemics (Morand and Walther, 2020; Rieder, 2020; Bowman et al., 2020). Such global challenges require profound changes to the current system of energy technologies while maintaining clean and pollution free energy for all including vulnerable groups to secure health. In addition, the detection and control of future pandemics and other diseases require developing functioning health systems powered by energy systems as well as the application of new online health monitoring methods (implantable or placed directly on skin for instance) where data is collected by the internet of things (IoT). The IoT utilization leads to a smart energy system where the power generation and consumers are linked enabling more efficient regulation of loads and energy supply (Chong et al., 2022). Smart buildings have the potential to interact well with smart grids to enhance energy efficiency, demand flexibility, grid services, and indoor comfort and health (Krarti and Aldubyan, 2021).

The price of energy has been increased by the pandemic, moreover the Ukraine war and the associated inflation and market changes has produced energy scarcity and insecurity. In the US, for instance, rural low-income families spend up to 9% of their income on energy (Graff and Carley, 2020), and many have been forced to reduce their energy consumption due to a pandemic induced economic crisis. In Poland, Nagaj and Korpysa (2020) have shown that the level of energy poverty has increased from 7.7% to 21.4% as an economic consequence of the pandemic. Energy supply disruptions and increased electricity and gas prices, increased utilization of alternative energy conversion methods such as indoor fossil fuel combustion for cooking/heating in poorer countries leading to poor air quality, including increased particulate matter (PM) with major health consequences.

The aim of this paper is to provide a comprehensive analysis of the interrelation between energy technologies and human health. This paper is novel in its examination of (1) the major challenges in the energy sector that can lead to negative impacts on human health, particularly during pandemics, (2) the effects of pandemics on the energy sector, and (3) potential solutions for transitioning to a health-friendly energy system. Drawing on the latest research published, the paper evaluates the impact of energy sources on human health, including energy pollution, pandemic recovery budgets, and environmental spending. Additionally, the paper explores the role of urban planning, energy efficiency, energy security, centralized vs decentralized energy systems, energy-efficient transportation, and energy devices for health monitoring in shaping human health. Finally, the paper delves into the impact of pandemics on the energy sector, including the effect on energy industry staff, the energy generation mix, the distribution of energy use, the chemical/petrochemical markets, and air quality. The discussion about the chemical/petrochemical health related markets is given because these industries are crucial in producing medical and pharmaceutical items including personal protection equipment supplies while also experiencing negative impacts on their economics due to the pandemic-induced reduction in demand for chemical materials.

#### 2. Impacts of energy technologies on human health

Energy technologies have a variety of impacts on human health, as discussed below.

#### 2.1. The importance of reliable energy sources for human health

A reliable energy infrastructure is essential to maintain a public health system during pandemics, and energy grid failures are potentially catastrophic. For instance, the information necessary to provide provision of emergency responses is dependent upon data centers, which use large amounts of electricity (Smith, 2020). The energy shortage due to the 2022 Ukraine war threatens health services due to either energy shortage of or increased energy prices required to offer health services (Choudhary et al., 2022). Another example is Iran where the dedication of a large share of national power generation to electricity consumption in mining of highly energy intensive cryptocurrencies (Li et al., 2019) has led to severe periods of regional electricity blackouts (Shabestari et al., 2022). The electricity blackouts are expected to double from 2020 to 2040 in Iran mostly due to the increase in average temperatures in warm months and lack of renewable energy sources (Shabestari et al., 2022). As a consequence of large regional electricity black outs, many respiratory patients suffer medical treatment disruptions. Any disruption of the energy grid that affects data centers will disrupt the processes of data interpretation and decision-making in hospitals. Ventilator, which are key elements in the treatment of patients with respiratory diseases, are another example of health system dependence on a reliable electricity system. Any disruption in the supply of electricity to ventilators will pose serious risks to patients with respiratory diseases who are in intensive care units (ICUs).

Energy poverty and energy insecurity, and the negative health impacts of insufficient and inefficient energy usage and poorly insulated buildings are amplified for vulnerable and less-adaptable groups such as young children and the elderly, highlighting the need to provide vulnerable groups with better energy solutions (Brown et al., 2019). Many countries have allowed persons with low income to delay paying their energy bills during specific disasters and the associated recessions. As an example of the importance of energy security for human health, new findings correlate the severity of COVID-19 to home energy standards, and show that homes with high energy standards have lower risks of infection and complications related to respiratory illnesses and patients have enhanced immune protection against illness (Baker et al., 2020). In general, ensuring improved thermal comfort in homes leads to health improvements, particularly when the improvements are directed toward individuals who are living in residences with insufficient heating and who have chronic respiratory diseases (Thomson and Thomas, 2015). Historically, cold homes in winters have negative health effects, while warm homes in winters helps maintain health and increase the chance of an infected person having 'milder' disease symptoms (Baker et al., 2020). On the other hand, unprecedented high temperature also damages health. Suboptimal temperatures were recently added to the Global Burden of Disease parameters and are responsible for 1.96 million deaths globally with the major death share related to high temperatures (Peters and Schneider, 2021). The Global Burden of Diseases (GBD), Injuries, and Risk Factors Study is a summary of the available evidence on levels and trends in health outcomes, a diverse set of risk factors, and health system responses (Murray et al., 2020). Due to the recent unprecedented heat waves and increased average temperatures in many countries, it is vital to address the health consequences of high temperatures. At high temperatures, elderly people and individuals with underlying health conditions are at high risk of heat-related acute cardiovascular disease, including myocardial infarction (Peters and Schneider, 2021). The importance of health consequences of ambient high temperatures for energy conversion lies in the necessity to produce new cooling methods in for residential buildings which are typically energyconsuming. As extreme temperatures are expected to be a major health concern and social justice issue, short-term suggestions include developing cooling centers with emergency power generators to provide temporary temperature reliefs (Gronlund et al., 2018). In the long-term however, energy-efficient pollution-free air conditioning and cooling installations in residences are important. With heightened temperatures, residential electricity demand will grown 41%-87% between 2020 and 2060 (Reyna and Chester, 2017). Therefore, rapid development of energy-efficient heating and cooling systems are necessary to decrease rapidly growing cooling energy consumption.

Thus, while measures that temporarily help people with energy bills are valuable, the implementation of a high energy standard for all households is necessary to minimize the consequences of future respiratory syndromes, including the future waves of infection due to viral variants. High household energy standards can be pursued by improving energy efficiency measures, supporting new technologies for producing and consuming electricity, and ensuring a high level of energy equality.

Globally, about 840 million people (mainly in sub-Saharan Africa) are without electricity and many more depend on an unreliable supply of electricity (Ogunbiyi, 2020). Energy insecurity is also a public health threat among low-income populations in the United States and is associated with serious health consequences and can lead people to engage in risky coping strategies such as the use of unreliable heating sources and occasional deaths due to CO poisoning (Memmott et al., 2021). While more than a billion people suffer from unreliable electricity supply, half of the world inhabitants depend on traditional (unhealthy) coal and biomass combustion methods for cooking and heating (Casillas and Kammen, 2010). Such levels of energy poverty

entail impaired global economic and educational opportunities, particularly among women, children, and minorities.

Another area of increasing concern is providing energy and power sources for refugees and refugee camps (Neves et al., 2021; Mukumbang, 2021). Here, the estimated 82.4 million people who have been forced to flee their homes, often experience power and energy shortages, and their lives have been also significantly worsened by pandemics (UN, 2021).

The lack of or limited access to reliable energy sources may adversely affect the battle against the pandemics in three major ways:

- Electricity disruptions in health clinics disrupt energy intensive medical equipment ICU operations, such as the use of ventilators and blood testing processes (Klemeš et al., 2020; Jiang et al., 2021).
- (2) Unreliable supply of electricity makes it difficult to work from home, which can be crucial in reducing the risk of spreading infection, while maintaining core societal functions.
- (3) Online and digital lifestyles including online shopping are hindered by the lack of reliable energy sources and limit self-isolation strategies (Birol, 2020).

#### 2.2. Energy pollution impacts on human health

Energy conversion is responsible for 75% of the global greenhouse gas emissions, 66% of NO<sub>x</sub> emissions and most of the PM emissions (Wang et al., 2019). A recent world health organization (WHO) report (WHO, 2019) shows that 90% of global population are breathing polluted air leading to seven million premature deaths annually. Moreover, air pollution (mainly from energy conversion) is responsible for more than 30% of strokes, lung cancer and heart diseases. While the threats posed by air pollution stemming from fossil fuel-based energy conversion has been increasingly noted by the public, the gradual lethal impacts of the air pollution have not been taken seriously by many countries in comparison to the effects of sudden disasters such as floods or earthquakes. The COVID-19 pandemic serves an example of how current air pollution weakens public health and has led to the death of millions of COVID-19 patients who might have survived if they had clean air to breathe. The World Bank has reported that COVID-19 infection risk double when air pollution concentrations increase by 20% (Andrée, 2020). In this context, fine inhalable particles, i.e., particulate matter with diameter <2.5 micrometers or PM<sub>2.5</sub>, represent the most dangerous air pollutant for patients with COVID-19. PM<sub>2.5</sub> not only severely damages the respiratory and cardiovascular systems, thereby increasing mortality risk (Brook et al., 2010; Pope III et al., 2004; Pope III et al., 2020), but also worsens the severity of COVID-19 symptoms and worsens the prognosis for patients with COVID-19. Thus, even slight increases in chronic exposure to PM<sub>2.5</sub> lead to large increases in the COVID-19 death rate (Wu et al., 2020). A study of patients with COVID-19, researchers in California, US (Bashir et al., 2020) underlined the importance of stricter regulation of PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> levels as a critical step in protecting human life from the lethal effects of particulate matter on human health.

It has been long known that air pollution worsens respiratory diseases (Tang et al., 2018; Daniel et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019; Kan et al., 2005)) but the extent was less clear, thus one study found that an increase of 1  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in long-term PM<sub>2.5</sub> exposure led to an 8% increase in the COVID-19 mortality (Wu et al., 2020). This implies that an increase of only 12  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in particulate emissions may lead to a doubling of the risk of death for patients with COVID-19. Similarly, research in the United Kingdom (Feng et al., 2020) has shown that an increase in the interquartile

range  $(2.1 \ \mu g/m^3)$  in PM<sub>2.5</sub> is associated with a 10% increase in the risk of COVID-19 mortality. The direct relationship between PM<sub>2.5</sub> and mortality was also confirmed by (Borro et al., 2020), who found that the mortality rate of patients with COVID-19 doubled when the average PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration increased from 10 to 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. While most studies and statistics focus on ambient particulate matter pollution, indoor air pollution is also very important and at the same time often neglected. For instance, the number of premature deaths due to urban residential PM<sub>2.5</sub> sources in China was 202,000 in 2014 (Zhang et al., 2021). The deleterious influences of air pollution on human health are attributed to the penetration of fine particles into the lungs, leading to hypertension, heart disease, and breathing problems, and possibly increasing the chance of developing diabetes. All of these complications are likely to increase patient mortality rates. In addition, inhaled particulate matter causes the immune system to deteriorate and increases lung inflammation and respiratory tract damage, leading to higher overall mortality rates from respiratory syndromes (Gardiner, 2020). Particulate matter may also enable rapid spread of the virus. The Italian Society of Environmental Medicine (SIMA) has cited particulate matter as a key carrier of the virus (Setti et al., 2020). Italy itself has exceeded the regulatory limits for PM<sub>2.5</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub>, nitrogen dioxide, and ozone emissions during the recent years, especially in northern Italy, which is highly industrialized with the population exposed to chronically high level of air pollution. Italy's Po Valley, which suffered one of the highest rates of spread of COVID-19 in Europe, has one of the highest levels of air pollution in Europe, as well experiencing high concentrations of particulate matter due to geographic features that prevent the dispersion of air pollutants (Zoran et al., 2020).

For those people who suffer from cardiovascular or lung diseases, research in the United States (Wu et al., 2020) has also found that exposure to PM2.5 increases the mortality rate. Studies on the health effects of particulate matter using data from individual patients in Mexico City (Lopez-Feldman et al., 2020) have shown that long-term exposure to PM<sub>2.5</sub> effects increases considerably with age, demonstrating the vulnerability of the elderly. It should be noted that the higher average age of the population in Europe, as compared for instance to the US and China, necessitates greater efforts in Europe to protect senior and vulnerable citizens from air pollution complications. Fig. 1 compares the average PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations and COVID-19 mortality rates in Pakistan, India, Italy, Mexico, the Netherlands, United Kingdom and the US. It should be noted that complete measurements of PM<sub>2.5</sub> are not available for many countries, which makes a full assessment challenging (Isphording and Pestel, 2020). Even before COVID-19, it was recognized that the fossil fuel share of PM<sub>2.5</sub> was responsible for a global total of 10.2 million premature deaths annually, with the greatest impact on mortality noted for regions with high fossil fuel-related PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations, most notably China (3.9 million premature deaths annually), India (2.5 million premature deaths annually) and parts of the eastern US, Europe and Southeast Asia (Vohra et al., 2021). While all of these studies underline the potential lethality of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in terms of affecting patients with COVID-19 (or in principle, any respiratory disease), the wide range of reported PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentrations in Fig. 1 shows that energy technologies and their associated emissions, especially PM<sub>2.5</sub>, have not been considered properly by the international community. Furthermore, the difference between the mean levels of PM<sub>2.5</sub> (1000  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> for Pakistan and 8.4  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> for the US) shows a significant gap between poor and rich countries in terms of PM<sub>2.5</sub> levels. This implies increasingly adverse impacts on vulnerable groups from pandemics and respiratory and cardiovascular diseases in poorer countries. In the US, changes in environmental protection guidelines have led to increased



**Fig. 1.** Mean  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations in regions/countries with varying COVID-19 mortality rates: Pakistan (Sipra et al., 2020), India (Sipra et al., 2020), Italy (Zoran et al., 2020; Borro et al., 2020; Comunian et al., 2020), Mexico (Lopez-Feldman et al., 2020), Netherlands (Cole et al., 2020b), the United Kingdom (Feng et al., 2020) and the United States (Wu et al., 2020).

generation of fine particulate matter, such as decisions made by the Trump administration to increase mining and fossil fuel exploration and lower National Ambient Air Quality standards for fine particulate matter (Furlow, 2017; Reilly, 2018; Gerrard and McTiernan, 2020). Such decisions will have adverse consequences, as it has been established that counties with higher levels of long-term air pollution have higher disease mortality rates than other counties (LaMotte, 2020). In total, the US suffered 9,700 additional premature deaths in 2018 due to PM<sub>2.5</sub>, and also suffered financial losses of an additional 89 billion United States Dollar (USD), as estimated using common valuations from the literature (Clay and Muller, 2019).

Fig. 2 shows the main sources of the global anthropogenic  $PM_{25}$ . It is clear that 75% of anthropogenic  $PM_{25}$  originates from the following three sources: residential combustion, industrial processes, and large-scale combustion. To reduce the levels of particulate emissions from these three sources, several parallel strategies should be pursued, with utilization of renewable energy sources and clean combustion being the top priorities (assuming that new nuclear energy will contribute in only a minor way in the next few decades, given its long lead times, high cost and considerable public resistance (Baron and Herzog, 2020). As for transport sector, Fig. 2 shows particulate matter is mainly related to road transport. Emissions of particulate matters from vehicles should be reduced by improving both combustion exhaust and non-exhaust particulate matters where brake linings and tire tread wears contribute heavily to particulate matter as non-exhaust emission in the transportation sector (Cai et al., 2020; Jaafari et al., 2020; Kermani et al., 2021). Alternative energy vehicles (AEV) such as electric cars or hydrogen fuel cell vehicles can provide health benefits by reducing combustion-related



Fig. 2. Shares of generated global anthropogenic  $PM_{2.5}$  with raw data taken from Klimont et al. (2017) for various sectors.

emissions (Peng et al., 2021). Regarding emissions in transport sector, the aviation industry also requires special attention when the goal is to reduce emissions (Klöwer et al., 2020). As an example of climate-adapted aviation, Sweden has introduced a new airport fee system based on the amounts of greenhouse gases emitted by different types of aircraft and fuels, with implementation via increased take-off and landing fees in Sweden (Johnson, 2021).

In Europe, where Italy, Spain and UK experienced COVID-19 outbreaks/infection waves with high mortality, studies have shown that in regions where there is chronic exposure to tropospheric nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>x</sub>), the COVID-19 fatality rates is higher (Ogen, 2020). Almost 80% of all COVID-19 fatalities occurred in regions with high NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations (Ogen, 2020). Fig. 3 shows the NO<sub>x</sub> emission shares of the various sectors. In contrast to particulate emissions, which arise mainly from stationary sources, NO<sub>x</sub> emissions are strongly linked to road transport. While major efforts have been made to reduce NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from internal combustion engines, increased car usage is expected to further increase such emissions. Thus, electrification and internal combustion engine modifications are both needed for reduced NO<sub>x</sub> emissions (Loughlin et al., 2015). In the case of industries, the control of thermal NO<sub>x</sub> emissions and



Fig. 3. Sector shares of nitrogen oxide emissions; data from the European Environment Agency (EEA) (EEA, 2017).

aftertreatment systems are the main routes to reduce the levels of  $NO_x$  emissions (Ajdari et al., 2016; Si et al., 2019).

While the above national studies have revealed a clear relationship between COVID-19 mortality and air pollution, an examination of Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development countries (OECD), which generally maintain higher emission standards compared to other countries and which have low pollution levels, does not show a clear relationship between the air pollution level and the associated COVID-19 mortality in a specific country (see Fig. 4). This is not altogether surprising given that various factors other than air pollution affect the mortality rate for COVID-19. An additional reason for the difference in the national and international relationships between COVID-19 and air pollution is that COVID-19 mortality rates in different countries reflect issues such as the country's health system, quality of life, laws and regulations related to the prevention of the disease, quarantine laws, and many other factors (Middelburg and Rosendaal, 2020). Moreover, different statistical analyses of the numbers of infections and deaths due to the COVID-19 pandemic are conducted in different countries, and the reported data reflect the measurement techniques, measurement accuracy levels, case



Fig. 4. Mortality rates related to COVID-19 and air pollution in OECD countries. Data for OECD pollution mortality is taken from 2017 OECD data (OECD, 2020a) and COVID-19 mortality is taken from world health (WHO) organization data up to September 2020.

monitoring, and active diagnostics, as well as the political will to measure them at all (Dyer, 2020; Ekong et al., 2020). The OECD countries were selected here, because they have a comprehensive data registry system (Du et al., 2018). Finding common ground for deriving and comparing such data between different countries is critical, since the relationship between air pollution and disease mortality has been proven for countries as diverse as the Netherlands (Cole et al., 2020a), China (Yongjian et al., 2020), and Italy (Fattorini and Regoli, 2020).

Air pollution has a strong negative impact on human health, damaging respiratory systems and increasing mortality (Cole et al., 2020b). While air pollution comprises various pollutants, the impacts of nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides and particulate matter on respiratory illnesses and cardiovascular diseases are widely discussed. Fig. 4 shows that the lethality of air pollution is greater than that of COVID-19. The WHO has estimated that outdoor air pollution causes 4.2 million premature deaths worldwide each year (WHO, 2020a). Thus, while COVID-19 has killed approximately 230 persons per 1 million in OECD countries, air pollution takes the lives of 335 persons per 1 million inhabitants. Unfortunately, as noted above, this does not mean that the factors underlying air pollution and COVID-19 cannot act in a synergistic manner (Arvind et al., 2020).

#### 2.3. Environmental spendings and pandemic recovery budgets

Fig. 5 compares the governmental budgets dedicated to pandemic responses and the environmental and climate change mitigation budgets of the US, Japan, European Union (EU), China, South Korea, Australia and Canada. The following conclusions can be drawn from this figure:

1- Even though climate change impacts, air pollution and environmental calamities have taken many more lives than COVID-19, Fig. 5 shows that the environmental budgets are dwarfed by the COVID-19 recovery budgets. Financial analysis at the state and corporate levels still do not fully acknowledge the serious risks linked to climate change and air pollution. The global costs of climate change for manageable assets in this century are estimated to range from \$4.2 trillion to \$43 trillion dollars, depending on the discount rates used (Goldstein et al., 2019). Until now, 1,600 of the world's largest companies have had plans to spend only tens of billions of dollars to address the major consequences of climate change and man-made pollution (Gray and Bakke, 2019). The results of a new study show that the levels of investments made to curb carbon emissions are low compared to the COVID-19 stimulus budget (Andrijevic et al., 2020). As the steps that will be taken by companies and governments to modify the energy system will shape infrastructures and industries for decades (2020a), a very careful examination of the required energy technology modifications is needed. The current low levels of investment in environmental remediation and climate change adaptations (Fig. 5) are key reasons for the high levels of air pollution. These in turn are a powerful driver of the high numbers of COVID-19 fatalities in various locations, ranging from northern Italy to New York City. Governments tend to cite fiscal constraints and competing priorities to justify underinvestment in climate change mitigation, although prolonged delays in making climate change investments will ultimately force the global community to accept vast and increasingly costly future interventions, and this will severely retard economic growth and destabilize fiscal balances (Catalano et al., 2020). However, if the US administration, as well as China and the EU follow their stated goals for carbon emissions reductions, the chances for the world to comply with the Paris Climate Agreement obviously increase (Le Quéré et al., 2021).

2- As shown in Fig. 5b, the EU has the smallest difference between its environmental budget and COVID-19 recovery budget. The leading role that EU has played in dedicating funding to environmental remediation and climate change is related to the relatively high level of awareness of its people and the relatively high level of trust that European populations have in their institutions. Thus, for instance Sweden, which shows the strongest national support for carbon taxation in Europe, needs to spend much less effort in convincing the general public to dedicate a reasonable share of the budget to tackling environmental problems



**Fig. 5.** Comparisons of: (a) national spending dedicated to tackling the COVID-19 pandemic environmental spending; and (b) the ratios of COVID-19 recovery budgets to environmental spending. Data on recovery packages are taken from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) (2020). US environmental budget data related to federal funding for climate change, as obtained from the US Government Accountability Office (GAO) (GAO, 2018). Data for the Japanese environmental budget are taken from Japan environmental ministry budget (CEIC, 2020). The European environmental budget is taken from European Commission climate action budgets in (Dutheil et al., 2020). The Chinese environmental budget is assumed from the ecology and environment protection budget in (Xu et al., 2020). The data for the Canadian environmental budget are taken from the levels of environmental spending given in (Kwang-tae, 2020), and the data for the Australian environmental budget are from the Australian national environment organization in (ACF, 2020).

and climate change, as compared to a country with overall lower levels of trust in both their institutions and politicians and a lower level of environmental awareness (Fairbrother et al., 2019). In 2015, Australian and Canadian scientists (Ross et al., 2015) predicted the proximity of occurrence of a zoonotic pandemic and proposed that instead of allocating considerable amounts of resources to 'react' to pandemics, funds must to a larger extent also be allocated proactively to 'prevent' pandemics. In general, the lower a country's investment in system resilience and preparedness for disasters, such as environmental disasters and the COVID pandemic, the more funding must be allocated for the response and reconstruction. This problem is especially common in low- and middle-income countries. For example, in a previous study conducted by the authors for Iran (Seddighi and Seddighi, 2020), it was shown that the budget allocated for response to and recovery from sudden disasters was several times the budget allocated for mitigation and preparedness for natural disasters and climate change disasters. In contrast, in high-income countries, part of the cost of the disaster response and reconstruction is covered by insurance, which can help the government to allocate funds to preparedness and mitigation measures

against natural and climate change disasters. In the event of sudden disasters, there is also an expectation that victims and those affected will be helped as soon as possible, given that the psychological pressure exerted by the populace on governments can be very high, sometimes leading to political unrest, e.g., the Tabas earthquake in Iran, a recent earthquake in Chile, etc. (Ibrion et al., 2015; Carlin et al., 2013; Drury and Olson, 1998). Therefore, governments try to allocate a large proportion of their budgets to these disasters rather than allocating spending to mitigate longer-term phenomena such as climate changes.

3- To compensate for the substantial differences between the recovery funds and the environmental budgets, the large funding for pandemic recovery being issued by many governments must be combined with strict requirements relate to environmental aspects, particularly given the need to change the current energy systems more in line with the key SDGs, such as climate change, environmental pollution and poverty. Most COVID-19 recovery packages simultaneously reduce carbon emissions while providing national and international employment (van de Ven and Dirk-Jan, 2022). There is obviously a risk that very few environmental requirements will be imposed on disaster recovery funds, such that once the disaster related crises are over. energy system designs will continue along the previous unsustainable path. Barbier (2020) proposes to transform the recovery packages so that in the near term they can be used to change the course of policies for green solutions, they should: (1) guarantee long-term commitments to public spending and pricing reforms (5-10 years); (2) support the private sector green innovation and infrastructure. the development of smart grids, transport systems, charging station networks, and sustainable cities; (3) enforce realistic carbon and pollution pricing and taxation and minimize emissions; and (4) pave the way for increased and sustainable financing of the public and private green investments and reduce the financial burdens of the green transition. Many countries are considering clean energy stimulus packages, while at the state level, policy actions such as state green banks and expedited permitting can bridge the gap, and pandemic recovery packages may lead to greater efforts in reducing emissions (Gillingham et al., 2020).

#### 2.4. Urban planning, energy efficiency and health

A high level of preparedness in urban areas is critical for efficient responses to pandemics. Compactness, which has been an important feature of urban and city planning, results in increased energy efficiency and minimization of resource consumption (Amado et al., 2016; Kılkış et al., 2020). Urban densification, which has been pursued during the last several decades to optimize various parameters, such as land use, urban patterns, building typology and energy use, has led to compact residential buildings located close to each together, which enables lower energy consumption per capita compared to dispersed suburban designs, while facilitating economically feasible public transportation in densely populated zones (Lobaccaro and Frontini, 2014). Unfortunately, people living in crowded buildings and densely populated communities also have an increased likelihood of exposure to any airborne disease transmission (Deziel et al., 2020). While compact urban design may decrease pollution concentrations by shortening trip distances, densely populated areas also lead to the increased share of population breathing excessive air pollution concentrations (Yuan et al., 2021). Thus, reducing building density in high-density urban centers increasing polycentric urban structures would improve the air quality experienced by individuals.

People who are living or working in large and compact buildings, such as towers or hospitals, are at significantly higher risk of disease infection according to Global Construction Review (GCR) (GCR, 2020). According to the WHO, densely populated cities and travel hubs are associated with a high risk of virus spread and high numbers of deaths due to high population densities and extensive public transport networks (WHO, 2020c). The World Heart Federation has concluded that densely populated areas and townships that suffer from widespread poverty and high levels of migration are highly vulnerable to airborne pandemics (Thienemann et al., 2020). However, it has also been suggested that population density is not the main factor, with infection risk being instead dependent upon the number of people with whom an individual interacts and the average number of infected people within the region (Andrée, 2020). Social distancing is obviously effective when it limits the number of people to whom one infected person can transmit the virus, ensuring that the R number stays below one (Lytras and Tsiodras, 2020). Social distancing is of course more difficult to maintain in densely populated urban areas and, as should be clear from the above, it is also challenging to limit anthropogenic pollution in such areas, thereby increasing the risk of pandemic complications.

#### 2.5. Centralized vs decentralized energy industry and health

Traditional decentralized energy sources, such as in-house combustion facilities, emit high levels of particulate matter that significantly increase the mortality rates of respiratory diseases. Annually, 4.3 million premature deaths are linked to pollution caused by traditional in-house heating and cooking by burning solid fuels (Egan, 2020). Most studies of particulate matter emissions have focused on developed countries using a narrow range of exposures, e.g., concentrations <200  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, with relevance to outdoor air quality in industrialized countries. However, indoor air pollution in developing countries is of the magnitude of thousands of  $\mu g/m^3$  and is not particularly well understood due to a lack of data and low prioritization by local governments. More than two billion people rely on the combustion of biofuels (wood, charcoal, agricultural residues, and animal manure) as their main source of energy, entailing exposures to particulate matter concentrations >2,000  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> inside their homes. Even before COVID-19, acute respiratory infections (ARI) were responsible for 6% of global disease-related deaths, mostly in lessdeveloped countries (Ezzati and Kammen, 2001). The existence of such high levels of indoor air pollution (mainly particulate matters) stemming from biofuel combustion is a deadly combination for many respiratory and heart patients in developing countries. The WHO gives household air pollution as the main cause of 3.8 million deaths per year, equivalent to 7.7% of global mortality (WHO. 2020b).

The United Nations (UN) defines sustainable access to energy as a precondition to achieve socioeconomic and sustainable development (Egan, 2020). Globally, 1.3 billion people do not have access to modern energy technologies, while 840 million people live without electricity, 570 million of them in sub-Saharan Africa where 25% of clinics have no electricity, and a further 28% of clinics have only occasional access to electricity (Alers, 2020; Egan, 2020). As noted previously, a reliable energy supply is essential for proper operation of health systems such that diagnosis and treatment can be performed.

The main motivation behind centralized, large-scale energy grids and power plants has been the desire to increase efficiency while reducing the electricity cost for the end-user. In addition, centralized plants (heat and/or electricity) can be equipped with efficient flue gas cleaning systems. The transition toward lowcarbon energy systems that will provide large-scale, low-cost electricity involves a combination of various electricity generation technologies, such as biomass-fired combined heat and power (CHP) plants (which can be equipped with carbon capture and storage (Bui et al., 2018)), renewable electricity generation (e.g., wind and solar) (Hart and Jacobson, 2012; Amer et al., 2020), and nuclear power (Silva et al., 2010). These can possibly be complemented by natural gas-fired CHP systems (Hawkes et al., 2009; Slorach and Stamford, 2021) serving as bridging to a climate-neutral system. However, the high costs associated with large-scale power plants and their grids have led to billions of people being deprived of the outcomes of such centralized, electricity generation technologies. In this context, international organizations such as the World Bank can play a key role in reducing global inequality by ensuring funding to large-scale, sustainable energy projects in low-income regions (Schwerhoff and Sy, 2017). Thus, a wide range of decentralized, small-scale, lowcost energy technologies, from traditional biofuel combustion stoves to natural gas or liquefied petroleum gas technologies, are used in hundreds of millions of homes worldwide. In the case of a decentralized energy technology, the energy conversion occurs at or very close to the location of the demand (Farulla et al., 2020). Although decentralized solar photovoltaic (PV) systems appear promising, much of the current decentralized energy services are

based on small-scale combustions systems, which are associated with considerable health and environmental costs. The potential of electricity from onsite solar panels and batteries may make decentralized energy systems more affordable than buying grid electricity from large scale utility companies (Schoolman et al., 2019).

In developed countries, such as Germany, electricity price liberalization and market competition have led to relatively low prices for electricity, leading to fewer private consumers installing decentralized energy systems (Praetorius and Schneider, 2006), although different subsidy schemes, such as feed-in tariffs for solar PV systems, have increased such decentralized electricity production. The goal of designing efficient, decentralized energy systems is being pursued by consumers who want to avoid potential grid interruptions and by those who want to secure their own renewable and independent electricity generation. Hospitals are another example of sites where decentralized backup power generators are necessary, since even short disruptions to the electricity supply can have serious consequences, especially for those patients who are on ventilators. It should be noted that ventilators, which were already insufficient in number, were in critically short supply worldwide during the pandemic (Neighmond, 2020; Pearce and Joshua, 2020). Moreover, for some regions of the world, when open-source, low-cost ventilators become available in low numbers, the lack of reliable electrical energy services make those ventilators comparatively ineffective at saving lives (Brosemer et al., 2020).

Here. CHP systems may have a contribution to make, as they are one of the most cost-effective methods for maintaining clean electricity, in addition to heat and power for other purposes. In addition, they can achieve efficiencies of 60%-80%, as compared to regular heat and power systems (power plants electricity using grids), which have efficiencies of 45%-55% (2020). CHP plants can be divided into: small-scale units (from 50 kW to 1 MW) for residential buildings; medium-scale units with capacities in the range of 1-10 MW, used in hospitals, college campuses, and big office buildings; and large-scale units with power outputs >10 MW, which are mainly used for industrial purposes or as production units in municipal district heating systems. The introduction of emissions trading (with respect to CO<sub>2</sub> emissions) or carbon emission taxes is expected to increase the cost of main grid electricity, leading to improved market penetration for microgrids or decentralized systems. Fig. 6 shows the shares of CHP in EU electricity generation and the shares of renewables and natural gas in powering CHP plants within the EU. The sharp increase in the share of renewables in the EU during the last decades is a positive development. Natural gas, which is the main energy carrier for CHP plants in Europe, is relatively clean compared to oil and coal and is very flexible, facilitating the integration of wind and solar power. However, Fig. 6 shows that the share of natural gas-fired CHP in EU is essentially constant and not increasing. This is important because natural gas is still a fossil fuel and, moreover, natural gas transportation systems are a major source of methane emissions (Boothroyd et al., 2018). Thus, there is a need to phase out natural gas if complying with the Paris Agreement. Therefore, we must understand what fuelshift options are available in district heating systems, including applying heat pumps on various waste heat streams.

While an increased CHP capacity would ensure the availability of electricity at high efficiencies and allow the possibility for advanced emissions control, the emissions produced at power plants normally occur far from densely populated areas (Khanna et al., 2017). Given the negative impacts on respiratory health of pollutants (especially particulate matter), future development plans for CHP should have a strong focus on reducing emissions. The cost of standby tariffs (i.e., the amount of money that a



**Fig. 6.** Shares of CHP in EU electricity generation and the shares of renewables and natural gas in powering CHP plants in the EU, derived from official data published by Eurostat, European Union (Eurostat, 2019).

building must pay for standby power, even if it is not used), complicated processes for CHP permits, and inadequate financial mechanisms to meet upfront costs are among the main hurdles to be overcome to ensure faster market penetration of CHP systems (Saba et al., 2013).

Thus, while both centralized and decentralized energy systems have their merits, installing low-cost, clean, decentralized power generators for low-income families and key facilities, such as hospitals or remote aid workers, would reduce the effects of future pandemics. The type of decentralized system would of course have to be optimized for each case. For instance, solar PV systems in rural areas in developing countries are important for providing access to clean electricity. Remote aid workers can, for instance, utilize portable power sources such as micro-combustors or fuel cells (Shao et al., 2005). One should note that many decentralized systems such as solar and wind require energy storage systems (Teichmann et al., 2012). While large-scale CHP systems can be used for large complexes and districts, micro-combined heat and power ( $\mu$ -CHP) plants can provide reliable electricity for households during grid shortfalls (Notter et al., 2015).

#### 2.6. The paradox of energy-efficient transport and health

Public transportation has been a key contributor to public welfare in modern societies through reducing energy consumption per capita, reducing traffic congestion, and increasing social cohesion and social equality. The cultural acceptance of public transport in advanced economies is evident, for instance, in Gothenburg, Sweden, an opinion poll of citizens showed that the majority of respondents were positive in relation to shared urban mobility options, as well as the use of public transport as compared to using private cars (Serafimova, 2020).

Unfortunately for modern societies and for energy efficiency, public transport has been proven to play an important role in the spread of virus (Zheng et al., 2020b); the extent of spread depends on how many people work from home and how many have to travel. COVID-19 has led to an increase in the use of individual cars (Chang et al., 2020), replacing public transportation in many places and leading to increased local levels of air pollution. In the US, for instance, public transportation systems are confronting an extraordinary financial crisis (initiated in part by the pandemic), whereby transit agencies are struggling to adapt to significant declines in ridership and requesting help from the US Government,

in order to cope with what has been termed an 'existential peril' for public transport (Wright and Will, 2020).

Air transportation has also dramatically increased the global spread of the virus (Hendrickson et al., 2020). In Wuhan, where the pandemic started, cases of infection connected to the use of public transportation proved to play a key role in the spread of COVID-19 (Zheng et al., 2020a). To prevent further COVID-19 spread, officials have urged people to avoid using public transport (Taylor, 2020), while at the same time enforcing strict hygiene protocols for those who have no other option than to take public transport (OECD, 2020c). In European cities, the use of public transportation systems has declined by 80% since the emergence of COVID-19 (Serafimova, 2020). Even after easing the lockdown, the fear of infection by the SARS-CoV-2 virus while using public transport has weakened the financial viability of the transportation industry. This means that the numbers of people walking and cycling to work have increased during the pandemic, and that using private cars to limit the spread of infection has become a new norm for many of those who previously only used public transport, while many still work from home. Thus, car travel is expected to rise dramatically after the easing of lockdowns, which will exert pressure on the urban mobility policies applied prior to COVID-19 (OECD, 2020b). If people choose private cars over public transport as the result of COVID-19, the urban transport systems in modern cities will become economically unviable and governments may need to reintroduce substantial financial subsidies for public transport (Tardivo et al., 2020). The usage of private cars as a way to avoid COVID-19 will also increase air pollution, thereby increasing the risk of complicated COVID-19 (Coccia, 2020), as well as creating more-severe congestion on roads. Thus, medium- to long-term solutions involve promoting electric cars, subsidizing public transport (Besley and Stern, 2020), and increasing the number of available buses and metro cars such that the number of people transported per bus allows social distancing. The extent to which cars are used depends of course on the percentage of employees working from home and whether schools and universities or closed or allow distance-education.

#### 3. Impacts of the pandemics on energy technologies

For a well-functioning society, a high priority is maintaining the uninterrupted operation of critical infrastructures, including electricity distribution systems and power utilities (Mikellidou et al., 2018). Therefore, this section discusses how pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemics have influenced the critical energy infrastructure and the use of different energy systems.

#### 3.1. Economy downturn and energy industry

Major disasters such as wars and pandemics lead to global crises and with their lasting consequences on individual behavior, affect the economy and energy systems for quite a long time. Therefore pandemics such as Spanish flu, the medieval Black Death, severe Cholera pandemics of the nineteenth century, and recently the COVID-19 are trust-reducing catastrophes affecting various aspects of the societies including socioeconomic aspects (Aassve et al., 2021). The Ukraine war and COVID-19 outbreak are the latest examples which have slowed the economy, both at the national and global levels, leading to economic crises in many sectors. This has forced countries to take extraordinary measures to mitigate the deleterious impacts of the disaster.

In general, economic crises are associated with an abrupt shift from capital inflows to capital outflows and/or a sharp decline in economic activities (Blaszkiewicz, 2000). The Spanish flu pandemic (February 1918 to April 1920) had major economic impacts worldwide, including a strong negative impact on capital incomes, both immediately and in the medium term (Karlsson et al., 2014). It caused an 18% drop in the levels of manufactured products and a 23% drop in employment in manufacturing industries (Correia et al., 2022; Wheelock, 2020). Disasters affect the energy sector from the household level to the community, national and international levels. On the household level, the Ukraine war and COVID-19 pandemic has caused persistent and severe energy insecurity and uncertainty, particularly with regards to paying energy bills (Graff and Carley, 2020).

As noted above, energy represents a major cost for domestic users. For example, during a normal month, the average household in US spends 3.5% of its income on energy, whereas an American rural, low-income family spends up to 9% of its income on its energy bill, and in some US rural areas, 25% of the low-income households spend more than 15% of their income on energy (Ross et al., 2018). In Iran, 4.8 million workers lost their jobs as the result of the pandemic, which is equivalent to 20% of the total Iranian workforce according to the Ministry of Cooperatives, Labor, and Social Welfare (Khabaronline, 2020). The COVID-19 crisis has also led to a drop in income of at least 50% for 33% of Canadian and US workers. 25% of workers in the UK, and 45% of workers in China (Bell and Blanchflower, 2020). As a consequence, the household energy bill has risen to as much as 20% of the household income of a rural family in the US. These increases have led to severe energy insecurity for many families and involuntary reductions in energy consumption and life quality. This trend toward energy poverty brought on by the pandemic-related economy downturn could return parts of the world to historic situations, commonplace in the 19th Century and early 20th Century, whereby low-income households (especially those of the elderly) were incapable of paying for proper heating in wintertime, resulting in deteriorating health and increased mortality (Kuo, 2020). Energy poverty typically forces economically poor households into living at dangerously low temperatures during cold winters, so as to minimize their fuel consumption or utility bills, with concomitant impacts on health and social wellbeing (Adrian et al., 2020).

As for the impact of COVID-19 on energy companies, the pandemic led to an unprecedented collapse in global demand for energy carriers, resulting in the first instance of negative oil prices since 1983 (Egan, 2020). Fig. 7 shows the US sales of electricity for various sectors and the US fuel net generation using various energy sources between September 2019 to September 2020. As shown in Fig. 7a, consumption of electricity decreased in Year 2020 due to COVID-19-related downturns in the commercial, industrial and transportation sectors. The consumption of fossil fuels is shown in Fig. 7 to decrease considerably compared to other energy sources, which is attributed to the fact that the customers must pay for each unit of fossil fuel, while renewable sources such as solar are essentially free once the necessary infrastructure is built.

Although fossil fuel use declined, one of the major issues linked to the COVID-19-precipitated economic crisis is the loss of ability to support the transition toward clean energy in many regions. The COVID-19 pandemic also widens the gulf between the leaders and laggards in relation to the global energy transition, owing to the strong lock-ins of fossil fuel infrastructures and pandemic-related economic difficulties (Quitzow et al., 2021). As an example, Ukraine significantly reduced its green tariffs for renewable energy due to the recession caused by COVID-19 (Polityuk, 2020), which risks bankrupting several companies that are supplying green energy (Emil and Weichert, 2020). Given the uncertainties related to the causes and effects of the changing trends in energy systems, future energy and environmental policies should be drafted in the forms of short-term stabilizing



**Fig. 7.** Changes in US energy consumption from September 2019 to September 2020, using data from the US Energy Information Administration (EIA, 2020a) with the data for: (a) the growth of US sales of electricity for the residential, commercial, industrial, and transportation sectors; and (b) the growth of US fuel net generation using fossil fuels, nuclear energy, renewables and hydroelectric.

policies and long-term shock-proof policies (Steffen et al., 2020). The unprecedented reductions in carbon emissions experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic have already demonstrated that governmental and international policies have the power to reduce the carbon footprints, assuming that there is willingness to do so (Simpkins, 2020). One should, however, note that the reductions in carbon emission changes observed in Year 2020 are temporary in nature, being due to the pandemic alone, and it seems as though they will not produce any structural changes in energy systems (Le Quéré et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the lessons learned from the pandemic may offer possibilities to change course, toward developing more-resilient energy systems.

The dramatic drop in demand and the associated decrease in the price oil have forced the oil-and-gas industry to make unprecedented decisions to cut their costs. For instance, Chevron announced a 4 billion USD budget cut (Hiller and Khan, 2020), and British Petroleum (BP) cut its annual spending budget by almost one-quarter, to \$12bn, as a way to protect the company from the aftermath of the pandemic (Ambrose, 2020). The pandemicrelated collapse in energy carrier prices led to the shutting off of less-profitable extraction wells worldwide, with negative effects on the workforces and financial health of energy companies and posing a threat to the supply chain for energy resources (DeCotis, 2020). The high frequency and long duration of lockdowns also damaged the resiliency and reliability of energy infrastructures, owing to the potential unavailability of unused parts of the system capacities once economic activity returns to pre-pandemic levels. To pave the way for a more resilient energy system, it is necessary to expand renewable electricity from sources such as wind and solar, which have nominal or no fuel costs and minimal emissions. Such a strategy is clearly in line with the Paris Agreement on climate change mitigation (McCollum et al., 2018).

The spread of COVID-19 worldwide acts as a major new external economic compass for changing market orientations. While declining industrial production has been a feature of the COVID-19 pandemic, the sector producing all grades of fuels, ranging from gasoline to diesel, has experienced a more drastic reduction than other industrial sectors (Kingsly and Henri, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has also led to the suspension of new investments in energy companies, which may ultimately increase the risk of future disruptions and weaken the capacities of companies to cope with new crisis situations (Eurelectric, 2020). For instance, in Year 2020, the effects of the pandemic on the oil and gas industries lowered capital spending in this sector by 100 billion USD (Takahashi, 2020). In the near-term, it seems unlikely

that there will be a corresponding increase in spending on renewable energy, as indicated above. In addition, pandemic-related restrictions on travel between countries have limited access to the necessary equipment and expertise from abroad, and this has further weakened the energy companies. For example, the Norwegian energy consultancy DNV GL states that irreversible behavioral changes with respect to travel, commuting and working habits have occurred, and that these will lead to reduced fossil fuel demand for many decades to come, mainly due to shrinkage of the transport sector and reduced demands for iron and steel (Grigorievna et al., 2020). This reduction in demand for fossil fuels linked to the COVID-19-induced economic crisis may offer opportunities to decouple the global economy from fossil fuel use and its associated carbon emissions, and to move forward to a more sustainable, carbon-free energy structure in line with the Paris Agreement. In this context, it should be noted that the COVID-19 pandemic led to an 8.8% drop in global anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the first half of 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019 (Liu et al., 2020a), although emissions are currently on the increase again (Zheng et al., 2020).

The International Energy Agency (IEA) estimates that 3.2 million jobs directly provided by the energy sector are at risk or have already been lost due to the COVID-19 pandemic (IEA, 2020a). Table 1 shows examples of the jobs lost in the energy sector due to the COVID-19 pandemic. It should be noted that while the numbers given in Table 1 are changing due to highly dynamic market conditions or to the cessation of state financial aid, they show the potent impact that the pandemic is having on the energy industry.

#### 3.2. The impacts of health on energy industry staff and equipment

Accidents in the energy sector mainly resulted from failures to systematically help the epidemiological, health and working conditions of the staff in addition to the commonly known violations of safety requirements by personnel (Kondrateva et al., 2019). Various factors negatively affect those who work in energy industry or in energy-intensive industries. For instance, exposure to high concentration of dust in the cement manufacturing factories lead to more respiratory diseases and lung deteriorations in workers (Rav et al., 2020). Epidemiologic studies of lung disease have revealed significant correlation between disease and occupational exposures to for instance silica, silicates and metal dusts which are abundant in steel industries (Christine and Zarnke, 2021). In the oil and gas industry, exposure to CO, NH<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub> and

#### S. Seddighi, E.J. Anthony, H. Seddighi et al.

#### Table 1

Examples of COVID-19 job losses within the energy industry.

Company	Job losses (Thousands)	Reference
Oil and gas giants, including BP, Chevron, Halliburton, Schlumberger	45.6	Neate (2020), TheStraitsTimes (2020), IndustryWeek (2020), Eaton (2020)
Utility companies, including OVO Energy, Centrica, Vattenfall	9.1	Davies (2020), Karagiannopoulos and Pollard (2020)
Energy equipment manufacturers, including Rolls Royce, MTU Aero Engines, Bombardier	11.1	Thicknesse and Edward (2020), Davies (2020)
Clean energy sector in US	850	Kaufmann (2020)

 $H_2S$  are among health hazards having negative, and sometimes lethal, impact on the health of the workers (Kumar et al., 2017). In addition to occupational health hazards mentioned above, in the last 20 years several disease outbreaks such as SARS, MERS, Ebola and COVID-19 have had negative impacts on staff wellness, the moving plans of rotating staff, operation disruption, and the company's operational license (Nguyen et al., 2020).

Reduced staff numbers due to pandemics at key energy facilities, such as power plants and network facilities, also present a challenge to the energy industries (Eurelectric, 2020). There are various reasons for the reductions in onsite personnel in energy companies, e.g., large number of employees become infected during pandemics which was the case during COVID-19 or staff must guarantine themselves. Moreover, some personnel may be required to work from home, even if this is not ideal. The government regulator for gas and electricity markets in Great Britain (Ofgem) has expressed serious concerns regarding the challenges related to daily operations during the COVID-19 pandemic, including a shortage of essential staff and reduced work capacities (WattUtilities, 2020). Staff shortages due to selfisolating or sick staff or employees who are taking care of sick family members has forced Ofgem to reduce its work capacity and prioritize vulnerable customers. In India, where many people use liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) for cooking, staff shortages in utility companies have led to long queues and delays at LPG outlets for persons wishing to refill or replace LPG cylinders (EnergyNewsMonitor, 2020). In New York City, where COVID-19 has had particularly severe consequences, utility companies have tried to ameliorate staff shortages through the use of staggered shifts and cross-training of employees in critical areas, including customer service (SagaCommunications, 2020).

To tackle staff shortage problems during COVID-19, petrochemical plants and gas refineries in oil-rich Iran have, for instance, asked the employees who are on shift for the daytime lockdown, which is currently implemented, to remain onsite for two months instead of the usual 3-week shift. In the US, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) has issued guidance for protecting key staff of "critical infrastructures" from the virus (DHS, 2020). Critical infrastructures include electric power plants, oil and gas infrastructures, and nuclear reactors. The US power sector had plans to keep essential staff on site at power plants and control centers, so as to maintain uninterrupted operation during the COVID-19 pandemic, while preparing a large stockpile of necessary living materials including beds, blankets, and food for onsite personnel (Volcovici and DiSavino, 2020). Offshore energy facilities also faced a major challenge in enforcing social distancing given the very limited physical space available for employees on such platforms. Regular medical check-ups, mobility permits to allow the transfer of employees to and from the platform, and the freezing of unnecessary new deployments, are among the measures taken in the offshore energy industry to maintain operations and ensure security of supply (Nathalie and Raval, 2020).

Moreover, air pollution negatively affects the mental health of individuals. The increased air pollution in combination with the COVID-19 pandemic, have exacerbated mental health disorders (Roberts et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2017). As the decisions and actions of industrial staff are dependent upon mental cognitive processes (Gheorghe et al., 2018), the negative impacts of pandemics on the mental health of workers in power plants and energy industries may increase risks of human errors and, in extreme cases, industrial disasters and power outages.

The energy industry has developed creative and effective strategies and protocols as a plan to responses to any outbreak such as the epidemic management model by ExxonMobil. This is a scalable and standard approach to prevent and control the various communicable diseases in workplaces including essential procedures for communication and action plans needed in different phases of the disease outbreak developed during the MERS and avian influenza H7N9 outbreaks (Schneider et al., 2013; Diara et al., 2014). However, the failures in dealing with COVID-19 pandemic requires new solutions to address future health issues and pandemics. Firstly medical data gathering, transfer, interpretation, and processing require standardization in digitalization (Nguyen et al., 2020). Secondly the utilization of online health monitoring systems and wearable technology for health risk management of chronic disease such as cardiovascular diseases or infectious diseases such as respiratory pandemics such as SARS and COVID-19 could be of great benefit to be used by energy industries for ensuring a proper health management system and preventing and preparedness against negative impacts of next pandemics. It should be noted that artificial intelligence (AI) technology and machine learning can use the information obtained by wearable electronic devices to provide complex health monitoring functions (Xu et al., 2021).

## 3.3. Energy generation mix and distribution of energy use between sectors

In general, pandemics lead to reduced energy consumption which negatively impacts the management and control of generation units by voltage and frequency deviations and, more importantly, reduced grid reliability and resiliency (Carmon et al., 2020). High shares of renewable energy and reduced electricity consumption due to a pandemic lead to increased ramprates of conventional power and consequently reduced reliability, poor resiliency, non-optimal economic dispatch. In large power plants part-load operating during pandemic low consumptions, less spinning reserve and lower rotational inertia would make the power plant and the grids susceptible to small deviations in the power produced by renewable sources (Carmon et al., 2020). These grid problems arise from the increased share of renewable energies such as solar energy. The increasing share of renewables is possible if combined with energy storage devices and demand flexibility (Kroposki et al., 2017). In addition, enhanced control of variable renewable energy sources, and frequency regulation capabilities are to be used by utility companies or the Transmission System Operator (TSO) to avoid grid problems (Denholm and Hand, 2011).



**Fig. 8.** The shares of US residential sector electricity consumption in first 8 months of 2020, as compared to the corresponding period in 2019; data from the US Energy Information Administration (EIA) (EIA, 2020b).

In the case of COVID-19, industrial energy consumption declined by up to 30% as a result of the lockdowns that were imposed to protect public health from the virus outbreak (Liu et al., 2020b). In addition, the fact that many people are working from home has increased the share of household energy consumption, leading to an increased share of household energy consumption in the total national energy consumption, which may have important implications for power grids and peak hours. For instance, one-third of Japanese consumers reported that their energy consumption increased because of the pandemic (Zhang, 2020). In New York City, while the pandemic reduced industrial and commercial energy consumption by 7%, household energy consumption increased by about 23% in March 2020 (Oarnain et al., 2020). During the pandemic, the electricity consumption share of the administrative buildings at the University of Almeria decreased by nearly one-third (Chihib et al., 2021). In Romanian Universities, computer use accounts for 11.28% to 60.5% of total consumption, which was reduced by 75% to 96.42% during the pandemic (Andrei et al., 2022).

Fig. 8 shows the share of US residential sector electricity consumption in the first eight months of 2020, as compared to 2019 with data obtained from the US Energy Information Administration (EIA). That the residential share of electricity consumption in the US has increased considerably during 2020 compared to the same period of 2019 can be attributed to the "Stay-at-home" orders after the emergence of COVID-19. In India, the virus outbreak has led to considerable increase in domestic energy consumption, whereas the share of industrial energy consumption has decreased, leading to profit losses for utility companies. This phenomenon arises because there are subsidies and regulations in place to protect domestic consumers and, consequently, control the cost of electricity for domestic users. An example of this regulatory regime is Indian power companies being forced to sell to domestic consumers rather than to industrial consumers (Elavarasan et al., 2020).

COVID-19 has also led to an increase in the shares of renewable energy sources in the electricity market, owing to their prioritized access to grids and low operating costs. For instance, solar PV and wind accounted for an increase in global renewable electricity generation of 5% in 2020 (Brosemer et al., 2020). In addition, almost 90% of the global power capacity expansion in 2020 is due to wind, hydropower and solar PV (IEA, 2020b), However, it is evident that public funding authorities are under extreme pressure to help various sectors recover from the COVID-19-induced recession, and this may have important and adverse implications for financing renewable energy systems (HIRST 2020). For instance, subsidies that have facilitated the development of wind and solar power generation may be cut in the future (Vlam, 2020). The COVID-19-linked economic meltdown has also led to job losses, with twice as many jobs lost in 2020 as were created during the previous 3 years in the US (Kaufmann, 2020). The pace of development of advanced energy technologies, such as renewable energies, electric cars, and carbon capture and storage. will depend on the current market penetration, support from the public and business interests, the costs faced by end-users, and the prioritizing of individual technologies such that they receive support from public funds and governments. As a potential solution, the United Nations Secretary-General has suggested investing COVID-19 stimulus funds in green growth and renewable energy (Guterres, 2020). In the wake of COVID-19-associated market instabilities, the main goals should be to promote the expansion of new industries within the renewables field and to ensure that the recovery funds and state budgets accelerate the development of sustainable renewable energy, particularly solar and wind power. The latest research also shows that spending a small fraction of the COVID-19 recovery packages on green recovery could address the dual crises of COVID-19 and climate change (Andrijevic et al., 2020; Sovacool et al., 2021). However, it may be difficult to achieve a balance between the inevitable demands for quick savings by businesses - even if unsustainable and changing course to a more sustainable development.

#### 3.4. Chemical/petrochemicals markets in health-related products

The petrochemical industry is essential for the production of medical and pharmaceutical items and personal protection equipment (PPE). For instance, manufacture of the critical N95 masks requires polyurethane, polypropylene (as the filter) and polyester (mask shell). Furthermore, polyester blends and nonwoven polypropylene are used in the production of surgical and patient gowns (Cooper, 2020). It is noteworthy that the recession brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic has led to a drop in worldwide demand for chemical and petrochemical products, which according to the international Agency ICIS has resulted in a crisis for petrochemical companies (Grigorievna et al., 2020) (Fig. 9). While the pandemic reduced the reuse of plastic waste (Grigorievna et al., 2020) and many other petrochemical products, the demand for primary polymers has increased. Thus, one could propose that the post-pandemic economic recovery will be the main factor in returning the petrochemical companies to fullcapacity production. It can be argued that the problem of the considerable amount of COVID-19-related medical waste, which typically has a high calorific content, and the urgent need to dispose of such waste can be solved using thermal methods such as incineration, gasification and pyrolysis, which can serve as sources of heat and power (Purnomo et al., 2021).

To help control the pandemic, many chemical/petrochemical plants have modified their production processes to produce materials for health, medical and pharmaceutical purposes. For example, Exxon Mobil announced that the production of isopropyl alcohol (IPA; used in sanitizers, rubbing alcohols and cleaning wipes) and polypropylene (used to make medical-grade masks, shields and gowns) has been prioritized and maximized to meet the significant rise in demand for COVID-19-related hospital supplies (ExxonMobil, 2020). In Iran, petrochemical companies have changed their production lines to deliver materials such as protective gear and gloves (Klimont et al., 2017). As another example, the petrochemical companies Karoun and Arvand have both



**Fig. 9.** Growth in chemical production in 2020 for France, Italy, US, Spain, UK, Belgium, The Netherlands and Germany: data from (Cefic, 2020) and (Tullo, 2020).

shifted their production lines toward producing bleach and caustics, which are used as raw materials in disinfectants and hygiene products, such as soaps (Ogen, 2020). It should be noted that the lockdown implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic reduced the demand for and consumption of many chemical materials, including fuels in some regions. Given that gasoline is mainly produced by refining crude oil through chemical processes and that this is accompanied by the creation of many other valuable chemical products, the sudden reductions in demand for gasoline have negative impacts on the economics of chemical production and on the Oil & Gas value chain. The US EIA has estimated that the global demand for petroleum and liquid fuels, which are main products of refineries, decreased by 8.1 million barrels/day (b/d) in 2020, as compared to 2019 reaching 92.6 million b/d in 2020 (EIA, 2020c).

As the global vaccine production is increasing to meet the demand, there is an increased need for energy and materials and feedstock to this industry. A life cycle assessment shows that each vaccine needs 0.69 kW<sub>h</sub> of energy and emits around 329  $gCO_{2eq}$  (Klemeš et al., 2021). Considering the global population, the vaccine production itself will require considerable amount of energy and material, and emit considerable amount of CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 3.5. Pandemic impact on air quality

The WHO (Cohen et al., 2017) estimates that 4.6 million people die each year as a result of diseases linked to air pollution. (Dutheil et al., 2020) and (Torkmahalleh et al., 2021) claim that the lockdowns implemented by most of the developed and developing countries have led to a decrease in air pollution and, paradoxically, have reduced the total number of deaths during lockdown periods by drastically decreasing the number of fatalities due to air pollution. Le Quéré et al. (2020) estimated that there was an unprecedented (albeit temporary) 17% reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions during the lockdowns. There are also studies, such as that conducted by Cicala et al. (2020), showing that the lockdowns implemented during the pandemic reduced emissions-related fatalities. For instance, the lockdowns in the US reduced pollution-related mortality by >360 deaths per month, mainly due to reductions in vehicle usage and the consequent reductions in particulate and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions (Cicala et al., 2020). In Delhi, India, which that has one of the highest global pollution levels, the PM<sub>2.5</sub> and nitrogen oxide levels dropped by 70% during the lockdowns (Gardiner, 2020). This can be compared with decreases in emissions of up to 60% in the European cities of Vienna and Zaragoza, and 42% in Shanghai, China (Kumar et al., 2020). However, eastern India experienced higher air pollution levels than usual, mainly due to the presence of coal-fired power plants clusters and coal mining (Tyagi et al., 2021). The US EIA has also estimated a 7.5% drop in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions due to the slowing economy and the restrictions imposed on business and travel activities during the pandemic (EIA, 2020c). The US has also experienced a 5.5% reduction in NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations, as compared to the historical average (Berman and Ebisu, 2020).

However, it is over-simplistic to think that reduced travel and mandated business restrictions automatically lead to a reduced number of deaths. Thus, while atmospheric pollution in China was the main cause of 1.6 million preventable deaths in 2016 (Rohde and Muller, 2015), the strict lockdown imposed by China only reduced the primary pollution, and several periods of heavy haze pollution in eastern China, and showed the need for a coordinated and balanced strategy for controlling multiple pollutants, including NO<sub>x</sub> and volatile organic compounds (Huang et al., 2020).

#### 4. Conclusions

This paper examines the connections between the energy technology applications and human health and in particular, how technologies affect health and how disasters such as pandemic disease affects energy technologies. From this, we draw conclusions on what are preferable technology transitions which can deal with the new human and global health challenges. In addition, the way that pandemics has changed or has the potential to change the use of and development of different energy technologies and their associated effects on human health are examined with especial focus on COVID-19. The following conclusions can be drawn:

- Energy technologies must adapt to structural changes and become integrated into long-term plans for recovery from the pandemics, so as to: (1) increase energy technology resilience; (2) repair economic damage caused by the pandemic; and (3) minimize the environmental emissions of greenhouse gases associated with power generation.
- Mortality risks are highly correlated to local levels of air pollutants, such as particulate matter (especially PM<sub>2.5</sub>) and NO<sub>x</sub>. On the one hand, 75% of anthropogenic PM<sub>2.5</sub> originates from residential combustion, industrial processes, and large-scale combustion. On the other hand, NO<sub>x</sub> emissions are mainly from internal combustion engines and combustion for energy conversion. Given that the sources of PM<sub>2.5</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> are linked to combustion, implementation of clean combustion remains critical to prevent the deadly outcomes of air pollution. The large differences in particulate matter emissions between poor and rich countries mean that it is incumbent upon the international community to develop and implement plans for affordable clean energy technologies for the billions of vulnerable poor people who still lack access to such energy sources and technologies.
- Increasing the decentralized energy capacity could secure access to electricity with high efficiencies. However, in such a situation, the emissions that are currently produced at

power plants and mainly released away from densely populated areas would then be released in more-residential locations, if based on combustion systems. Given the important negative impacts of pollutants (especially particulate matter) on human respiratory health, decentralized energy systems should be scrutinized to ensure very low levels of pollutants, with solar PV and battery storage systems being prioritized for clean electricity production.

- The increasing heat waves and rising average temperatures in many countries provide new global challenges with heatrelated diseases and negative health consequences such as heat-related acute cardiovascular disease events and myocardial infarction. These effects imply that energy conversion technologies should develop toward energy-efficient and low-priced new cooling methods and HVAC technologies for residential buildings to save the vulnerable groups from dire health consequences of increasing temperatures.
- The energy poverty produced by pandemic-related downturns in economies could return us to historic eras in which deteriorating health and increased mortality adversely impacted low-income and vulnerable households due to energy shortages. Thus, both short-term and long-term measures are necessary to ensure continued access to energy for vulnerable groups, not least because pandemics can be expected to reoccur.
- The pandemic negatively affected the workforce and the financial health of energy companies and threatened the supply chain for energy resources. Long periods of lockdown can damage the resiliency and reliability of energy infrastructures, potentially leading to loss of parts of the system capacities once economic activities return to pre-pandemic levels.
- Energy companies must identify sustainable solutions for organizational challenges, such as how to deal with reduced staffing during pandemics in key energy facilities, such as power plants and network facilities. Using advanced solutions such as the *Internet of Things* and deep learning can support robust staff planning in the future.
- It is of the utmost importance that recovery funds provided by different governments around the world are – as far as possible – used to drive change toward moresustainable and renewable energy systems and to motivate climate change mitigation plans.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

#### References

- Aassve, Arnstein, Alfani, Guido, Gandolfi, Francesco, Moglie, Marco Le, 2021. Epidemics and trust: the case of the Spanish Flu. Health Econ. 30 (4), 840–857.
- ACF, 2020. Morrison Government's Budget 2019-20: Devaluing Our Environment While Fuelling Global Warming. Australian National Environment Organization, https://www.acf.org.au/budget\_2019\_20\_devaluing\_our\_environment\_fuelling\_global\_warming. Last Modified 02 April 2019.
- Adrian, Nicole, Barnett, Brian, Bunn, Laura, Galecki, Morgan, Ginn, Jacob, Plumley, Bill, 2020. Climate Change & Child Poverty in OECD Countries. Workshop in Public Affairs.

- Ajdari, Sima, Normann, Fredrik, Andersson, Klas, Johnsson, Filip, 2016. Reduced mechanism for nitrogen and sulfur chemistry in pressurized flue gas systems. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 55 (19), 5514–5525. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr. 5b04670.
- Alers, Marcel, 2020. How clean energy can power a COVID-19 recovery. https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2020/how-cleanenergy-can-power-a-covid-19-recovery0.html. (Accessed 25 May 2020).
- Amado, Miguel, Poggi, Francesca, Amado, António Ribeiro, 2016. Energy efficient city: A model for urban planning. Sustainable Cities Soc. 26, 476–485. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2016.04.011.
- Ambrose, Jillian, 2020. BP to cut spending amid 'most brutal' oil price rout in decades. The Guardian.
- Amer, Mohamed, Wojcik, Emilia Z., Sun, Chenhao, Hoeven, Robin, Hughes, John M.X., Faulkner, Matthew, Yunus, Ian Sofian, Tait, Shirley, Johannissen, Linus O., Hardman, Samantha J.O., 2020. Low carbon strategies for sustainable bio-alkane gas production and renewable energy. Energy Environ. Sci.
- Andrée, Bo Pieter Johannes, 2020. Incidence of COVID-19 and Connections with Air Pollution Exposure: Evidence from the Netherlands. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, (9221), (9221).
- Andrei, Paul Cristian, Stanculescu, Marilena, Andrei, Horia, Caciula, Ion, Diaconu, Emil, Bizon, Nicu, Mazare, Alin Gheorghita, Ionescu, Laurentiu Mihai, Gaiceanu, Marian, 2022. Comparative and predictive analysis of electrical consumption during pre-and pandemic periods: case study for romanian universities. Sustainability 14 (18), 11346.
- Andrijevic, Marina, Schleussner, Carl-Friedrich, Gidden, Matthew J., McCollum, David L., Rogelj, Joeri, 2020. COVID-19 recovery funds dwarf clean energy investment needs. Science 370 (6514), 298–300.
- Arora, Vipin, Jozef, Lieskovsky, 2014. Electricity use as an indicator of US economic activity. US Energy Information Administration, https://www.eia. gov/workingpapers/pdf/electricity\_indicator.pdf.
- Arvind, Kumar, Burston, Jane, Karliner, Josh, 2020. The deadly link between COVID-19 and air pollution. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/thedeadly-link-between-covid-19-and-air-pollution/. World Economic Forum.
- Baker, William, Ambrose, Aimee, Brierley, Jenny, Butler, Danielle, Marchand, Robert, Sherriff, Graeme, 2020. Stuck at home in a cold home: the implications of Covid-19 for the fuel poor. People, place and policy online: 1–4
- Barbier, Edward B., 2020. Greening the post-pandemic recovery in the G20. Environ. Resour. Econ. 76 (4), 685–703.
- Baron, Jonathon, Herzog, Stephen, 2020. Public opinion on nuclear energy and nuclear weapons: The attitudinal nexus in the United States. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 68, 101567. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101567.
- Bashir, Muhammad Farhan, Ma, Ben Jiang, Bilal, Bushra Komal, Bashir, Muhammad Adnan, Farooq, Taimoor Hassan, Iqbal, Najaf, Bashir, Madiha, 2020. Correlation between environmental pollution indicators and COVID-19 pandemic: A brief study in Californian context. Environ. Res. 187, 109652. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109652.
- Bell, David N.F., Blanchflower, David.G., 2020. US and UK labour markets before and during the Covid-19 crash. Natl. Inst. Econ. Rev. 252, R52–R69.
- Berman, Jesse D., Ebisu, Keita, 2020. Changes in U.S. air pollution during the COVID-19 pandemic. Sci. Total Environ. 739, 139864. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139864.
- Besley, Timothy, Stern, Nicholas, 2020. The economics of lockdown. Fiscal Stud. 41 (3), 493–513.
- Birol, Fatih, 2020. The coronavirus crisis reminds us that electricity is more indispensable than ever.
- Blaszkiewicz, Monika, 2000. What factors led to the asian financial crisis: were or were not asian economics sound? CASE Netw. Stud. Anal. (209).
- Boothroyd, Ian M., Almond, Sam, Worrall, Fred, Davies, Rosemary K., Davies, Richard J., 2018. Assessing fugitive emissions of CH4 from highpressure gas pipelines in the UK. Sci. Total Environ. 631-632, 1638–1648. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.240.
- Borro, Marina, Girolamo, Paolo Di, Gentile, Giovanna, Luca, Ottavia De, Preissner, Robert, Marcolongo, Adriano, Ferracuti, Stefano, Simmaco, Maurizio, 2020. Evidence-based considerations exploring relations between SARS-CoV-2 pandemic and air pollution: involvement of PM2. 5-mediated up-regulation of the viral receptor ACE-2. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17 (15), 5573.
- Bowman, David M.J.S., Kolden, Crystal A., Abatzoglou, John T., Johnston, Fay H., van der Werf, Guido R., Flannigan, Mike, 2020. Vegetation fires in the Anthropocene. Nat. Rev. Earth Environ. 1 (10), 500–515. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/s43017-020-0085-3.
- Brook, Robert D., Rajagopalan, Sanjay, Pope III, C. Arden, Brook, Jeffrey R., Bhatnagar, Aruni, Diez-Roux, Ana V., Holguin, Fernando, Hong, Yuling, Luepker, Russell V., Mittleman, Murray A., 2010. Particulate matter air pollution and cardiovascular disease: an update to the scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 121 (21), 2331–2378.
- Brosemer, Kathleen, Schelly, Chelsea, Gagnon, Valoree, Arola, Kristin L., Pearce, Joshua M., Bessette, Douglas, Olabisi, Laura Schmitt, 2020. The energy crises revealed by COVID: Intersections of Indigeneity, inequity, and health. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 68, 101661. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020. 101661.

- Brown, Marilyn A., Soni, Amol, Lapsa, Melissa.V., Southworth, Katie, Cox, Matt, 2019. Low-income energy affordability in an era of US energy abundance. Progr. Energy 1 (1), 012002.
- Bui, Mai, Adjiman, Claire S., Bardow, André, Anthony, Edward J., Boston, Andy, Brown, Solomon, Fennell, Paul S., Fuss, Sabine, Galindo, Amparo, Hackett, Leigh A., 2018. Carbon capture and storage (CCS): the way forward. Energy Environ. Sci. 11 (5), 1062–1176.
- Cai, Ran, Zhang, Jingzeng, Nie, Xueyuan, Tjong, Jimi, Matthews, D.T.A., 2020. Wear mechanism evolution on brake discs for reduced wear and particulate emissions. Wear 452-453, 203283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wear.2020. 203283.
- Carlin, Ryan E., Love, Gregory J., Zechmeister, Elizabeth J., 2013. Natural disaster and democratic legitimacy: the public opinion consequences of chile's 2010 earthquake and tsunami. Polit. Res. Q. 67 (1), 3–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/ 1065912913495592.
- Carmon, David, Navon, Aviad, Machlev, Ram, Belikov, Juri, Levron, Yoash, 2020. Readiness of small energy markets and electric power grids to global health crises: lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. IEEE Access 8, 127234-127243.
- Casillas, Christian E., Kammen, Daniel M., 2010. The energy-poverty-climate nexus. Science 330 (6008), 1181–1182.
- Catalano, Michele, Forni, Lorenzo, Pezzolla, Emilia, 2020. Climate-change adaptation: The role of fiscal policy. Resour. Energy Econ. 59, 101111. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2019.07.005.
- Cefic, 2020. EU Chemical Output Shows Signs of Fragile Recovery, but Remains 9% Below the Pre-Crisis Level. Chemical Quarterly Report (CQR), Quarterly Summary, : Cefic.
- CEIC, 2020. Japan IB: GA: Exp: Ministry of Environment. CEIC, https: //www.ceicdata.com/en/japan/government-budget-initial-general-accountexpenditure-by-agency/ib-ga-exp-ministry-of-environment.
- Chang, Hung-Hao, Meyerhoefer, Chad, Yang, Feng-An, 2020. Covid-19 prevention and air pollution in the absence of a lockdown. In: No, 27604. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Chihib, Mehdi, Salmerón-Manzano, Esther, Chourak, Mimoun, Perea-Moreno, Alberto-Jesus, Manzano-Agugliaro, Francisco, 2021. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the energy use at the university of almeria. Sustainability 13 (11), 5843, (in Spain).
- Chong, Cheng Tung, Fan, Yee Van, Lee, Chew Tin, Klemeš, Jiří Jaromír, 2022. Post COVID-19 ENERGY sustainability and carbon emissions neutrality. Energy 241, 122801. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122801.
- Choudhary, Om Prakash, Saied, AbdulRahman A., Ali, Rezhna Kheder, Maulud, Sazan Qadir, 2022. Russo-Ukrainian war: An unexpected event during the COVID-19 pandemic. Travel Med. Infect. Dis. 48, 102346.
- Christine, Oliver L., Zarnke, Andrew M., 2021. Sarcoidosis: an occupational disease? Chest http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2021.06.003.
- Cicala, Steve, Holland, Stephen P., Mansur, Erin T., Muller, Nicholas Z., Yates, Andrew J., 2020. Expected Health Effects of Reduced Air Pollution from COVID-19 Social Distancing. National Bureau of Economic Research. Clay, Karen, Muller, Nicholas Z., 2019. Recent Increases in Air Pollution: Evidence
- Clay, Karen, Muller, Nicholas Z., 2019. Recent Increases in Air Pollution: Evidence and Implications for Mortality. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Coccia, Mario, 2020. Factors determining the diffusion of COVID-19 and suggested strategy to prevent future accelerated viral infectivity similar to COVID. Sci. Total Environ. 729, 138474. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2020.138474.
- Cohen, Aaron J., Brauer, Michael, Burnett, Richard, Anderson, H Ross, Frostad, Joseph, Estep, Kara, Balakrishnan, Kalpana, Brunekreef, Bert, Dandona, Lalit, Dandona, Rakhi, 2017. Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: an analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. Lancet 389 (10082), 1907–1918.
- Cole, Matthew A., Ozgen, Ceren, Strobl, Eric, 2020a. Air Pollution Exposure and Covid-19 in Dutch Municipalities. Environmental and Resource Economics, pp. 1–30.
- Cole, Matthew, Ozgen, Ceren, Strobl, Eric, 2020b. Air pollution exposure and COVID-19.
- Comunian, Silvia, Dongo, Dario, Milani, Chiara, Palestini, Paola, 2020. Air pollution and Covid-19: The role of particulate matter in the spread and increase of covid-19's morbidity and mortality. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17 (12), 4487.
- Cooper, Jim, 2020. COVID-19: Q & A on petrochemicals helping protect public health. https://www.afpm.org/newsroom/blog/covid-19-qa-petrochemicalshelping-protect-public-health. (Accessed 23 May 2020).
- Correia, Sergio, Luck, Stephan, Verner, Emil, 2022. Pandemics depress the economy, public health interventions do not: Evidence from the 1918 flu. The Journal of Economic History 82 (4), 917–957.
- Craven, Matt, Mysore, Mihir, Wilson, Matthew, 2020. COVID-19: Implications for Business. McKinsey & Company, https://www.mckinsey.com/businessfunctions/risk/our-insights/covid-19-implications-for-business.
- Daniel, P. Croft, Zhang, Wangjian, Lin, Shao, Thurston, Sally W., Hopke, Philip K., Masiol, Mauro, Squizzato, Stefania, Wijngaarden, Edwin van, Utell, Mark J., Rich, David Q., 2019. The association between respiratory infection and air pollution in the setting of air quality policy and economic change. Ann. Amer. Thoracic Soc. 16 (3), 321–330.

- Davies, Pascale, 2020. Coronavirus job cuts: Which companies in Europe are slashing their workforces because of COVID-19? https: //www.euronews.com/2020/07/24/coronavirus-job-cuts-which-companies-
- in-europe-are-slashing-their-workforces-because-of-co. Euronews. DeCotis, Paul A., 2020. Importance of energy-sector investment in technology and infrastructure. Nat. Gas Electr. 36 (11), 24–27.
- Denholm, Paul, Hand, Maureen, 2011. Grid flexibility and storage required to achieve very high penetration of variable renewable electricity. Energy Policy 39 (3), 1817–1830.
- Deziel, Nicole C., Allen, Joseph G., Scheepers, Paul T.J., Levy, Jonathan I., 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic: a moment for exposure science. J. Expo. Sci. Environ. Epidemiol. 1–3.
- DHS, 2020. Weekly Update: DHS Response to COVID-19. Department of Homeland Security, https://www.dhs.gov/news/2020/06/29/weekly-update-dhs-response-covid-19. (Accessed 28 July 2020).
- Diara, Malick, Ngunjiri, Susan, Marusiak, Amanda Brown, Ben-Edet, Affiong, Plenderleith, Rob, Modrick, Michelle, Buford, Deena, 2014. Prevention and control of emerging infectious disease outbreaks in global oil and gas workplaces. In: SPE International Conference on Health, Safety, and Environment.
- Drury, A. Cooper, Olson, Richard Stuart, 1998. Disasters and political unrest: an empirical investigation. J. Conting. Crisis Manag. 6 (3), 153–161. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1111/1468-5973.00084.
- Du, Xiaoyang, Khamitova, Adina, Kyhlstedt, Mattias, Sun, Sun, Sengoelge, Mathilde, 2018. Utilisation of real-world data from heart failure registries in OECD countries-A systematic review. IJC Heart Vasc. 19, 90–97.
- Dutheil, Frédéric, Baker, Julien S., Navel, Valentin, 2020. COVID-19 as a factor influencing air pollution? Environ. Pollut. (Barking, Essex: 1987) 263, 114466.
- Dyer, Owen, 2020. Covid-19: hospitals brace for disaster as US surpasses China in number of cases. BMJ: Br. Med. J. (Online) 368.
- Eaton, Collin, 2020. Schlumberger cuts 21, 000 jobs amid historic oil downturn. Wall Street J. https://www.wsj.com/articles/schlumberger-cuts-21-000-jobsamid-historic-oil-downturn-11595591476.
- EEA, 2017. National emissions reported to the convention on long-range transboundary air pollution (LRTAP convention) european environment agency (EEA).
- Egan, Matt, 2020. The oil bankruptcies are just beginning. Here's who could be next. CNN.
- EIA, 2020a. Electric Power Monthly. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA).
- EIA, 2020b. Monthly Electric Power Industry Report. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA), https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia861m/.
- EIA, 2020c. Short-term energy outlook US energy information administration (EIA).
- Ekong, Iniobong, Chukwu, Emeka, Chukwu, Martha, 2020. COVID-19 mobile positioning data contact tracing and patient privacy regulations: exploratory search of global response strategies and the use of digital tools in Nigeria. JMIR MHealth UHealth 8 (4), e19139.
- Elavarasan, Madurai, Rajvikram, G.M. Shafiullah, Raju, Kannadasan, Mudgal, Vijay, Arif, M.T., Jamal, Taskin, Subramanian, Senthilkumar, Balaguru, V.S. Sriraja, Reddy, K.S., Subramaniam, Umashankar, 2020. COVID-19: Impact analysis and recommendations for power sector operation. Appl. Energy 279, 115739. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115739.
- Emil, Flitenborg, Weichert, Stefan, 2020. Has COVID-19 struck a fatal blow for Ukraine's green energy drive? Euronews 6 Aug 2020.
- EnergyNewsMonitor, 2020. Oil demand plummets after lockdown. https://www. orfonline.org/research/energy-news-monitor-65771/. Energy News Monitor.

Epstein, Paul R., Chivian, Eric, Frith, Kathleen, 2003. Emerging diseases threaten conservation. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (10), A506–A507.

- Eurelectric, 2020. Impact of COVID-19 on customers and society: recommendations from the european power sector. https://www.eurelectric.org/covid-19/.
- Eurostat, 2019. Combined Heat and Power (CHP) Data. Eurostat, European Union, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/energy/data/database. Accessed 2 September 2020.
- ExxonMobil, 2020. ExxonMobil and COVID-19. ExxonMobil, https://corporate. exxonmobil.com/News/COVID-19-ExxonMobils-response/Operations. (Accessed 23 May 2020).
- Ezzati, Majid, Kammen, Daniel M., 2001. Indoor air pollution from biomass combustion and acute respiratory infections in Kenya: an exposureresponse study. Lancet 358 (9282), 619–624. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(01)05777-4.
- Fairbrother, Malcolm, Sevä, Ingemar Johansson, Kulin, Joakim, 2019. Political trust and the relationship between climate change beliefs and support for fossil fuel taxes: Evidence from a survey of 23 European countries. Global Environ. Change 59, 102003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha. 2019.102003.
- Farulla, Girolama Airò, Cellura, Maurizio, Guarino, Francesco, Ferraro, Marco, 2020. A review of thermochemical energy storage systems for power grid support. Appl. Sci. 10 (9), 3142.

Fattorini, Daniele, Regoli, Francesco, 2020. Role of the chronic air pollution levels in the Covid-19 outbreak risk in Italy. Environ. Pollut. 114732.

- Feng, Zhiqiang, Cherrie, Mark, Dibben, Chris, 2020. Long-Term Exposure to Outdoor Air Pollution and COVID-19 Mortality: an ecological analysis in England. medRxiv.
- Fund, International Monetary, 2020. Policy Responses to COVID-19. International Monetary Fund (IMF), https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/imf-andcovid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19#E.
- Furlow, Bryant, 2017. Trump administration halts mountaintop coal mining health study. Lancet Respir. Med. 5 (10), 775.
- GAO, 2018. Climate Change: Analysis of Reported Federal Funding. United States Government Accountability Office (GAO).
- Gardiner, Beth, 2020. Pollution made COVID-19 worse. Now, lockdowns are clearing the air. https://www.nationalgeographic.com/science/2020/04/pollution-made-the-pandemic-worse-but-lockdowns-clean-the-sky/. National Geographic.
- GCR, 2020. People in tall buildings could face extra Covid-19 risk, expert warns. http://www.globalconstructionreview.com/news/people-tallbuildings-could-face-extra-covid-19-ri/. (Accessed 24 May 2020).
- Gerrard, Michael B., McTiernan, Edward, 2020. Biden administration will reverse many trump environmental policies. NYLJ 264 (93), November 12, 2020, https://scholarship.law.columbia.edu/faculty\_scholarship/2977/.
- Gheorghe, Adrian V., Vamanu, Dan V., Katina, Polinpapilinho F., Pulfer, Roland, 2018. Critical Infrastructures, Key Resources, Key Assets. Springer, pp. 3–37.
- Gillingham, Kenneth T., Knittel, Christopher R., Li, Jing, Ovaere, Marten, Reguant, Mar, 2020. The short-run and long-run effects of Covid-19 on energy and the environment. Joule 4 (7), 1337–1341. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.joule.2020.06.010.
- Goldstein, Allie, Turner, Will R., Gladstone, Jillian, Hole, David G., 2019. The private sector's climate change risk and adaptation blind spots. Nature Clim. Change 9 (1), 18–25.
- Graff, Michelle, Carley, Sanya, 2020. COVID-19 assistance needs to target energy insecurity. Nat. Energy 5 (5), 352–354. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41560-020-0620-y.
- Gray, Ian, Bakke, Gretchen, 2019. Pacific Gas and Electric is a company that was just bankrupted by climate change. It won't be the last. https: //www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2019/01/30/pacific-gas-and-electric-is-a-company-that-was-just-bankrupted-by-climate-change-it-wont-be-the-last/?noredirect=on. The Washington Post.
- Grigorievna, Bondarenko Tatiana, Alekseevna, Prodanova Natalia, Aleksandrovna, Zhdanova Olga, Pavlovna, Maksimova Tatiana, 2020. Covid-19 as a modern determinant of oil demand: pharmaceutical perspective. Syst. Rev. Pharm. 11 (12), 1757–1768.
- Gronlund, Carina J., Sullivan, Kyle P., Kefelegn, Yonathan, Cameron, Lorraine, O'Neill, Marie S., 2018. Climate change and temperature extremes: A review of heat- and cold-related morbidity and mortality concerns of municipalities. Maturitas 114, 54–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.06.002.
- Guterres, UN Secretary-General António, 2020. Invest COVID-19 stimulus funds in green growth, secretary-general tells clean energy summit, stressing renewables offer three times more jobs than fossil fuel industry. https: //www.un.org/press/en/2020/sgsm20168.doc.htm.
- Hart, Elaine K., Jacobson, Mark Z., 2012. The carbon abatement potential of high penetration intermittent renewables. Energy Environ. Sci. 5 (5), 6592–6601.
- Hawkes, Adam, Staffell, Iain, Brett, Dan, Brandon, Nigel, 2009. Fuel cells for micro-combined heat and power generation. Energy Environ. Sci. 2 (7), 729–744.
- Hendrickson, Chris, Rilett, Laurence, R., 2020. The COVID-19 Pandemic and Transportation Engineering. American Society of Civil Engineers, https:// ascelibrary.org/doi/full/10.1061/JTEPBS.0000418.
- Hiller, Jennifer, Khan, Shariq, 2020. Chevron Leads Another Wave of Massive Oil-Industry Spending Cuts. Reuters.
- Huang, Xin, Ding, Aijun, Gao, Jian, Zheng, Bo, Zhou, Derong, Qi, Ximeng, Tang, Rong, Wang, Jiaping, Ren, Chuanhua, Nie, Wei, 2020. Enhanced secondary pollution offset reduction of primary emissions during COVID-19 lockdown in China. Natl. Sci. Rev.
- Ibrion, Michaela, Mokhtari, Mohammad, Parsizadeh, Farokh, Nadim, Farrokh, 2015. Timescape of the earthquake disasters in iran: the intricacies of earthquake time and earthquake disaster risk reduction. Geografiska Ann.: Ser. A Phys. Geogr. 97 (1), 197–216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/geoa.12093.
- IEA, 2020a. Covid-19 and Energy: Setting the Scene. International Energy Agency (IEA), https://www.iea.org/reports/sustainable-recovery/covid-19-and-energy-setting-the-scene.
- IEA, 2020b. Renewable Power is Defying the Covid Crisis with Record Growth this Year and Next. International Energy Agency (IEA), https://www.iea.org/news/renewable-power-is-defying-the-covid-crisiswith-record-growth-this-year-and-next.
- IndustryWeek, 2020. Halliburton to cut up to 6400 jobs. https://www. industryweek.com/talent/article/21964589/halliburton-to-cut-up-to-6400jobs. Industry Week.
- Isphording, Ingo E., Pestel, Nico, 2020. Pandemic meets pollution: poor air quality increases deaths by COVID-19.

- Jaafari, Jalil, Naddafi, Kazem, Yunesian, Masud, Nabizadeh, Ramin, Hassanvand, Mohammad Sadegh, Ghozikali, Mohammad Ghanbari, Shamsollahi, Hamid Reza, Nazmara, Shahrokh, Yaghmaeian, Kamyar, 2020. Characterization, risk assessment and potential source identification of PM10 in Tehran. Microchem. J. 154, 104533. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2019. 104533.
- Jiang, Peng, Fan, Yee Van, Klemeš, Jiří Jaromír, 2021. Impacts of COVID-19 on energy demand and consumption: Challenges, lessons and emerging opportunities. Appl. Energy 285, 116441. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy. 2021.116441.
- Johnson, Simon, 2021. Sweden Plans Climate-Adjusted Airline Take-Off and Landing Fees. Reuters, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-sweden-environmentairlines-idUSKBN2BE2CE.
- Kan, H.D., Chen, Bing-heng, Fu, C.W., Yu, Shun-Zhang, Mu, Lina, 2005. Relationship between ambient air pollution and daily mortality of SARS in Beijing. Biomed. Environ. Sci. 18 (1), 1–4.
- Karagiannopoulos, Lefteris, Pollard, Niklas, 2020. Sweden's Vattenfall to Shed 1, 500 Jobs in Push to Cut Costs. Reuters, https://www.reuters.com/article/ussweden-vattenfall-redundancies/swedens-vattenfall-to-shed-1500-jobs-inpush-to-cut-costs-idUSKBN1GV205.
- Karlsson, Martin, Nilsson, Therese, Pichler, Stefan, 2014. The impact of the 1918 Spanish flu epidemic on economic performance in Sweden: An investigation into the consequences of an extraordinary mortality shock. J. Health Econ. 36, 1–19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2014.03.005.
- Kaufmann, K., 2020. Covid-19 wipes out twice as many US clean energy jobs as sector added in past three years. https://pv-magazineusa.com/2020/05/13/covid-19-wipes-out-twice-as-many-us-clean-energyjobs-as-sector-added-in-past-three-years/. pv magazine USA.
- Kermani, Majid, Jafari, Ahmad Jonidi, Gholami, Mitra, Arfaeinia, Hossein, Shahsavani, Abbas, Fanaei, Farzad, 2021. Characterization, possible sources and health risk assessment of PM2.5-bound Heavy Metals in the most industrial city of Iran. J. Environ. Health Sci. Eng. 19 (1), 151–163. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s40201-020-00589-3.
- Khabaronline, 2020. Social welfare: Coronavirus has lead to 6 million lose their jobs (in persian), khabaronline.ir/news/1422319. *Khabaronline*.
- Khanna, Nina, Zhou, Nan, Ke, Jing, Fridley, David, 2017. Evaluation of the contribution of the building sector to PM2. 5 emissions in China.
- Kılkış, Şiir, Krajačić, Goran, Duić, Neven, Rosen, Marc A., Al-Nimr, Moh'd Ahmad, 2020. Advances in integration of energy, water and environment systems towards climate neutrality for sustainable development. Energy Convers. Manage. 225, 113410. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113410.

Kingsly, Kelly, Henri, Kouam, 2020. COVID-19 and oil prices. Available at SSRN 3555880.

- Klemeš, Jiří Jaromír, Fan, Yee Van, Jiang, Peng, 2020. The energy and environmental footprints of COVID-19 fighting measures–PPE, disinfection, supply chains. Energy 211, 118701.
- Klemeš, Jiří Jaromír, Jiang, Peng, Fan, Yee Van, Bokhari, Awais, Wang, Xue-Chao, 2021. COVID-19 pandemics Stage II – Energy and environmental impacts of vaccination. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 150, 111400. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.rser.2021.111400.
- Klimont, Zbigniew, Kupiainen, Kaarle, Heyes, Chris, Purohit, Pallav, Cofala, Janusz, Rafaj, Peter, Borken-Kleefeld, Jens, Schöpp, Wolfgang, 2017. Global anthropogenic emissions of particulate matter including black carbon. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 17 (14), 8681–8723.
- Klöwer, Milan, Hopkins, Debbie, Allen, Myles, Higham, James, 2020. An Analysis of Ways to Decarbonize Conference Travel After COVID-19. Nature Publishing Group.
- Kondrateva, Olga E., Kravchenko, Maksim V., Loktionov, Oleg A., 2019. Algorithm development for assessing the risk of damage to the health of workers in the energy industry. In: 2019 International Youth Conference on Radio Electronics, Electrical and Power Engineering. REEPE.
- Krarti, Moncef, Aldubyan, Mohammad, 2021. Review analysis of COVID-19 impact on electricity demand for residential buildings. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 143, 110888.
- Kroposki, Benjamin, Johnson, Brian, Zhang, Yingchen, Gevorgian, Vahan, Denholm, Paul, Hodge, Bri-Mathias, Hannegan, Bryan, 2017. Achieving a 100% renewable grid: Operating electric power systems with extremely high levels of variable renewable energy. IEEE Power Energy Mag. 15 (2), 61–73.
- Kumar, Prashant, Hama, Sarkawt, Omidvarborna, Hamid, Sharma, Ashish, Sahani, Jeetendra, Abhijith, K.V., Debele, Sisay E., Zavala-Reyes, Juan C., Barwise, Yendle, Tiwari, Arvind, 2020. Temporary reduction in fine particulate matter due to 'anthropogenic emissions switch-off' during COVID-19 lockdown in Indian cities. Sustainable Cities Soc. 62, 102382. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.scs.2020.102382.
- Kumar, R.M. Manoj, Karthick, RB., Bhuvaneswari, V., Nandhini, N., 2017. Study on occupational health and diseases in oil industry. Int. Res. J. Eng. Technol. 4 (12), 954–958.
- Kuo, Tzu Ling, 2020. Energy Poverty and the Elderly-Care: Exploring Energy Poverty in the Elderly-Care Through Case Studies with Social Welfare Organizations in Taiwan (IIIEE Master thesis).

- Kwang-tae, Kim, 2020. S. Korea unveils record high budget for 2020. https: //en.yna.co.kr/view/AEN20190828006600320. YONHAP News Agency, August 29, 2019.
- LaMotte, Sandee, 2020. Covid-19 Death Rate Rises in Counties with High Air Pollution, Study Says. CNN, https://edition.cnn.com/2020/04/07/health/covid-19-air-pollution-risks-wellness/index.html.
- Le Quéré, Corinne, Jackson, Robert.B., Jones, Matthew W., Smith, Adam J.P., Abernethy, Sam, Andrew, Robbie M., De-Gol, Anthony J., Willis, David R., Shan, Yuli, Canadell, Josep G., 2020. Temporary reduction in daily global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions during the COVID-19 forced confinement. Nature Clim. Change 1–7.
- Le Quéré, Corinne, Peters, Glen P., Friedlingstein, Pierre, Andrew, Robbie M., Canadell, Josep G., Davis, Steven J., Jackson, Robert B., Jones, Matthew W., 2021. Fossil CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the post-COVID-19 era. Nature Clim. Change 11 (3), 197–199.
- Li, Jingming, Li, Nianping, Peng, Jinqing, Cui, Haijiao, Wu, Zhibin, 2019. Energy consumption of cryptocurrency mining: A study of electricity consumption in mining cryptocurrencies. Energy 168, 160–168.
- Liu, Zhu, Ciais, Philippe, Deng, Zhu, Lei, Ruixue, Davis, Steven J., Feng, Sha, Zheng, Bo, Cui, Duo, Dou, Xinyu, Zhu, Biqing, 2020a. Near-real-time monitoring of global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions reveals the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature Commun. 11 (1), 1–12.
- Liu, Zhu, Deng, Zhu, Ciais, Philippe, Lei, Ruixue, Feng, Sha, Davis, Steven J, Wang, Yuan, Yue, Xu, Lei, Yadong, Zhou, Hao, 2020b. Decreases in global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions due to COVID-19 pandemic. arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.13614.
- Lobaccaro, Gabriele, Frontini, Francesco, 2014. Solar energy in urban environment: how urban densification affects existing buildings. Energy Procedia 48, 1559–1569.
- Lopez-Feldman, Alejandro, Heres, David, Marquez-Padilla, Fernanda, 2020. Air pollution exposure and COVID-19: a look at mortality in Mexico city using individual-level data. Available at SSRN 3673616.
- Lorentzen, Henrik F., Benfield, Thomas, Stisen, Simon, Rahbek, Carsten, 2020. COVID-19 is possibly a consequence of the anthropogenic biodiversity crisis and climate changes. Danish Med. J. 67 (5), A205025.
- Loughlin, Daniel H., Kaufman, Katherine R., Lenox, Carol S., Hubbell, Bryan J., 2015. Analysis of alternative pathways for reducing nitrogen oxide emissions. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 65 (9), 1083–1093.
- Lytras, Theodore, Tsiodras, Sotirios, 2020. Lockdowns and the COVID-19 pandemic: What is the endgame? Scand. J. Public Health.
- McCollum, David L., Zhou, Wenji, Bertram, Christoph, Boer, Harmen-Sytze De, Bosetti, Valentina, Busch, Sebastian, Després, Jacques, Drouet, Laurent, Emmerling, Johannes, Fay, Marianne, 2018. Energy investment needs for fulfilling the Paris Agreement and achieving the Sustainable Development Goals. Nat. Energy 3 (7), 589–599.
- Memmott, Trevor, Carley, Sanya, Graff, Michelle, Konisky, David M., 2021. Sociodemographic disparities in energy insecurity among low-income households before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nat. Energy 6 (2), 186–193.
- Middelburg, Rutger A., Rosendaal, Frits R., 2020. COVID-19: How to make between-country comparisons. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 96, 477–481. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.066.
- Mikellidou, Cleo Varianou, Shakou, Louisa Marie, Boustras, Georgios, Dimopoulos, Christos, 2018. Energy critical infrastructures at risk from climate change: A state of the art review. Saf. Sci. 110, 110–120.
- Morand, Serge, Walther, Bruno Andreas, 2020. The accelerated infectious disease risk in the Anthropocene: more outbreaks and wider global spread. bioRxiv.
- Mukumbang, Ferdinand C., 2021. Pervasive systemic drivers underpin COVID-19 vulnerabilities in migrants. Int. J. Equity Health 20 (1), 1–7.
- Murray, Christopher J.L., et al., 2020. Five insights from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 396 (10258), 1135–1159. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/S0140-6736(20)31404-5.
- Nagaj, Rafal, Korpysa, Jaroslaw, 2020. Impact of COVID-19 on the level of energy poverty in Poland. Energies 13 (18), 4977.
- Nathalie, Thomas, Raval, Anjli, 2020. Quarantined offshore: North sea energy groups rocked by coronavirus. Financial Times.
- Neate, Rupert, 2020. BP to cut 10, 000 jobs worldwide amid huge drop in demand for oil. https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/jun/08/bp-to-cut-10000-jobs-worldwide-amid-huge-drop-in-demand-for-oil-covid-19. The Guardian.
- Neighmond, P., 2020. As the Pandemic Spreads, Will There be Enough Ventilators. NPR, https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2020/03/14/ 815675678/as-the-pandemic-spreads-will-there-be-enough-ventilators.
- Neves, Diana, Baptista, Patrícia, Pires, João M., 2021. Sustainable and inclusive energy solutions in refugee camps: Developing a modelling approach for energy demand and alternative renewable power supply. J. Clean. Prod. 298, 126745.
- Nguyen, Trung, Gosine, Raymond G., Warrian, Peter, 2020. Digitalization of the oil and gas industry: practical lessons learned from digital responses during the first stage of the COVID-19 outbreak. In: Proceedings of the Future Technologies Conference, FTC, 2020, 3. Springer International Publishing.

- Notter, Dominic A., Kouravelou, Katerina, Karachalios, Theodoros, Daletou, Maria K., Haberland, Nara Tudela, 2015. Life cycle assessment of PEM FC applications: electric mobility and μ-CHP. Energy Environ. Sci. 8 (7), 1969–1985. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C5EE01082A.
- OECD, 2020a. Air pollution effects. https://data.oecd.org/air/air-pollution-effects. htm.
- OECD, 2020b. Re-spacing our cities for resilience. https://www.itf-oecd.org/ sites/default/files/respacing-cities-resilience-covid-19.pdf. (Accessed 26 May 2020).
- OECD, 2020c. Transport policy responses to the coronavirus crisis. https://www. itf-oecd.org/covid-19/policy-responses. (Accessed 25 May 2020).
- Ogen, Yaron, 2020. Assessing nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) levels as a contributing factor to coronavirus (COVID-19) fatality. Sci. Total Environ. 726, 138605. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138605.
- Ogunbiyi, Damilola, 2020. Here's why energy security is a vital tool in tackling a pandemic. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/pandemic-energy-access-coronavirus.
- Pearce, Joshua, M., 2020. A review of open source ventilators for COVID-19 and future pandemics. F1000Research 9. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7195895/.
- Peng, Liqun, Liu, Feiqi, Zhou, Mi, Li, Mingwei, Zhang, Qiang, Mauzerall, Denise L., 2021. Alternative-energy-vehicles deployment delivers climate, air quality, and health co-benefits when coupled with decarbonizing power generation in China. One Earth 4 (8), 1127–1140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear. 2021.07.007.
- Peters, Annette, Schneider, Alexandra, 2021. Cardiovascular risks of climate change. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 18 (1), 1–2.
- Polityuk, Pavel, 2020. Ukraine Approves Cuts to Green Energy Tariffs. Reuters.
- Pope III, C. Arden, Burnett, Richard T., Thurston, George D., Thun, Michael J., Calle, Eugenia E., Krewski, Daniel, Godleski, John J., 2004. Cardiovascular mortality and long-term exposure to particulate air pollution: epidemiological evidence of general pathophysiological pathways of disease. Circulation 109 (1), 71–77.
- Pope III, C. Arden, Coleman, Nathan, Pond, Zachari A., Burnett, Richard T., 2020. Fine particulate air pollution and human mortality: 25+ years of cohort studies. Environ. Res. 183, 108924.
- Praetorius, Barbara, Schneider, Lambert, 2006. Micro cogeneration: towards a decentralized and sustainable German energy system? In: 29th IAEE International Conference. Potsdam.
- Purnomo, Chandra Wahyu, Kurniawan, Winarto, Aziz, Muhammad, 2021. Technological review on thermochemical conversion of COVID-19-related medical wastes. Resour. Conserv. Recy. 105429.
- Qarnain, Syed Shuibul, Muthuvel, S., Bathrinath, S., 2020. Review on government action plans to reduce energy consumption in buildings amid COVID-19 pandemic outbreak. Mater. Today: Proc. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr. 2020.04.723.
- Quitzow, Rainer, Bersalli, German, Eicke, Laima, Jahn, Joschka, Lilliestam, Johan, Lira, Flavio, Marian, Adela, Süsser, Diana, Thapar, Sapan, Weko, Silvia, 2021. The COVID-19 crisis deepens the gulf between leaders and laggards in the global energy transition. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 74, 101981.
- Rav, A. Perakas, Sivasankar, S., Razali, Nur Khusairi, Karmegam, K., Velu, P., Kulanthayan, S., Naeini, Hassan Sadeghi, 2020. A review of occupational safety and health problems among quarry plant workers. Malays. J. Med. Health. Sci. 16, 194–200.
- Reilly, Sean, 2018. Trumps' EPA scraps air pollution science review panels. Science 12.
- Reyna, Janet L., Chester, Mikhail V., 2017. Energy efficiency to reduce residential electricity and natural gas use under climate change. Nature Commun. 8 (1), 14916. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14916.
- Rieder, Harald E., 2020. Eine Bestandsaufnahme zur Klimakrise inmitten der COVID-19-Pandemie. e i Elektrotech. Informationstech. (published in German) 137 (7), 335–340. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00502-020-00833-6.
- Roberts, Susanna, Arseneault, Louise, Barratt, Benjamin, Beevers, Sean, Danese, Andrea, Odgers, Candice L, Moffitt, Terrie E., Reuben, Aaron, Kelly, Frank J., Fisher, Helen L., 2019. Exploration of NO<sub>2</sub> and PM<sub>2.5</sub> air pollution and mental health problems using high-resolution data in Londonbased children from a UK longitudinal cohort study. Psychiatry Res. 272, 8–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.050.
- Rohde, Robert A., Muller, Richard A., 2015. Air pollution in China: mapping of concentrations and sources. PLoS One 10 (8), e0135749.
- Ross, Allen G.P., Crowe, Suzanne M., Tyndall, Mark W., 2015. Planning for the next global pandemic. Int. J. Infect. Dis. 38, 89–94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ijid.2015.07.016.
- Ross, Lauren, Drehobl, Ariel, Stickles, Brian, 2018. The High Cost of Energy in Rural America: Household Energy Burdens and Opportunities for Energy Efficiency. American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy (ACEEE) Research Report U 1806.
- Saba, Alexis, Howard, Bianca, Gerrard, Michael, Modi, Vijay, 2013. The Opportunities for and Hurdles to Combined Heat and Power in New York City. Columbia Law School, Sabin Center for Climate Change Law.

- SagaCommunications, 2020. Utility Companies Announcing Customer Protections During COVID-19 Crisis. Saga Communications, https: //whcuradio.com/news/025520-utility-companies-announcing-customerprotections-during-covid-19-crisis/.
- Schneider, Jennifer, Ghettas, Salim, Merdaci, Nacer, Brown, Mervin, Martyniuk, Joseph, Alshehri, Waleed, Trojan, Anthony, 2013. Towards sustainability in the oil and gas sector: benchmarking of environmental, health, and safety efforts. J. Environ. Sustain. 3 (3), 6.
- Schoolman, Anya, Raturi, Atul K., Nussey, Bill, Shirley, Rebekah, Knuckles, James A., de Graaf, Florijn, Magali, Prosper R., Lu, Zongxiang, Breyer, Christian, Markides, Christos N., 2019. Decentralizing energy for a high-demand, low-carbon world. One Earth 1 (4), 388–391. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.12.005.
- Schwerhoff, Gregor, Sy, Mouhamadou, 2017. Financing renewable energy in Africa Key challenge of the sustainable development goals. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 75, 393–401. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.004.
- Seddighi, Hamed, Seddighi, Sadegh, 2020. How much the Iranian government spent on disasters in the last 100 years? A critical policy analysis. Cost Eff. Resour. Allocation 18 (1), 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12962-020-00242-8.
- Serafimova, Teodora, 2020. COVID-19: an opportunity to redesign mobility towards greater sustainability and resilience?. European University Institute.
- Setti, Leonardo, Passarini, Fabrizio, de Gennaro, Gianluigi, Gilio, Alessia Di, Palmisani, Jolanda, Buono, Paolo, Fornari, Gianna, Perrone, Maria Grazia, Piazzalunga, Andrea, Barbieri, Pierluigi, Rizzo, Emanuele, Miani, Alessandro, 2020. Evaluation of the potential relationship between Particulate Matter (PM) pollution and COVID-19 infection spread in Italy. Societa Italiana Di Medicina Ambientale 2, 1–6.
- Shabestari, Tamjid, Sara, Alibakhsh Kasaeian, Rad, Mohammad Amin Vaziri, Fard, Habib Forootan, Yan, Wei-Mon, Pourfayaz, Fathollah, 2022. Technofinancial evaluation of a hybrid renewable solution for supplying the predicted power outages by machine learning methods in rural areas. Renew. Energy 194, 1303–1325. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2022.05.160.
- Shao, Zongping, Haile, Sossina M., Ahn, Jeongmin, Ronney, Paul D., Zhan, Zhongliang, Barnett, Scott A., 2005. A thermally self-sustained micro solid-oxide fuel-cell stack with high power density. Nature 435 (7043), 795–798. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature03673.
- Si, Tong, Wang, Chunbo, Yan, Xuenan, Zhang, Yue, Ren, Yujie, Hu, Jian, Anthony, Edward J., 2019. Simultaneous removal of  $SO_2$  and  $NO_x$  by a new combined spray-and-scattered-bubble technology based on preozonation: From lab scale to pilot scale. Appl. Energy 242, 1528–1538. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.03.186.
- Silva, R. Busquim, Kazimi, M.S., Hejzlar, P., 2010. Nuclear fuel recycling: National and regional options for the US nuclear energy system. Energy Environ. Sci. 3 (8), 996–1010.
- Simpkins, Graham, 2020. COVID-19 carbon cuts. Nat. Rev. Earth Environ. 1 (6), 279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s43017-020-0062-x.
- Sipra, Khalid Mehmood, Abrar, Muhammad Mohsin, Iqbal, Muhammad, Haider, Ehtesham, Shoukat, Hafiz Muhammad Hassan, 2020. Can PM2. 5 pollution worsen the death rate due to COVID-19 in India and Pakistan? Sci. Total Environ. 742, 140557.
- Slorach, Peter C., Stamford, Laurence, 2021. Net zero in the heating sector: Technological options and environmental sustainability from now to 2050. Energy Convers. Manage. 230, 113838. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman. 2021.113838.
- Smith, Don C., 2020. COVID-19 and the Energy and Natural Resources Sectors: Little Room for Error. Taylor & Francis.
- Sovacool, Benjamin K., Kim, Jinsoo, Yang, Minyoung, 2021. The hidden costs of energy and mobility: A global meta-analysis and research synthesis of electricity and transport externalities. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 72, 101885.
- Steffen, Bjarne, Egli, Florian, Pahle, Michael, Schmidt, Tobias S., 2020. Navigating the clean energy transition in the COVID-19 crisis. Joule.
- Takahashi, Paul, 2020. Exxon Mobil slashes capital spending by \$10 billion because of oil crash. https://www.houstonchronicle.com/business/article/exxon-mobil-oil-spending-10-billion-crash-covid-19-15184115.php. Houston Chronicle.
- Tang, Sanyi, Yan, Qinling, Shi, Wei, Wang, Xia, Sun, Xiaodan, Yu, Pengbo, Wu, Jianhong, Xiao, Yanni, 2018. Measuring the impact of air pollution on respiratory infection risk in China. Environ. Pollut. 232, 477–486. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.09.071.
- Tardivo, Alessio, Martín, Celestino Sánchez, Zanuy, Armando Carrillo, 2020. Covid-19 impact in Transport, an essay from the Railways' system research perspective. Advance. Preprint. https://doi.org/10.31124/advance.12204836.v1..
- Taylor, Kate, 2020. No bus service. Crowded trains. Transit systems struggle with the virus. The New York Times. Published March 17.
- Teichmann, Daniel, Stark, Katharina, Müller, Karsten, Zöttl, Gregor, Wasserscheid, Peter, Arlt, Wolfgang, 2012. Energy storage in residential and commercial buildings via Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carriers (LOHC). Energy Environ. Sci. 5 (10), 9044–9054. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C2EE22070A.

- TheStraitsTimes, 2020. Chevron plans sweeping job cuts with 6, 000 employees at risk. https://www.straitstimes.com/business/companies-markets/chevronplans-sweeping-job-cuts-with-6000-employees-at-risk. The Straits Times.
- Thicknesse, Alex Daniel, Edward, 2020. UK firms cut a total of 100, 000 jobs amid coronavirus pandemic. https://www.cityam.com/hollowed-out-which-uk-companies-have-made-job-cuts-during-the-coronavirus-pandemic/. City A. M.
- Thienemann, Friedrich, Pinto, Fausto, Grobbee, Diederick E., Boehm, Michael, Bazargani, Nooshin, Ge, Junbo, Sliwa, Karen, 2020. World heart federation briefing on prevention: coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in low-income countries. Global Heart 15 (1).
- Thomson, Hilary, Thomas, Sian, 2015. Developing empirically supported theories of change for housing investment and health. Soc. Sci. Med. 124, 205–214. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.11.043.
- Torkmahalleh, Mehdi Amouei, Akhmetvaliyeva, Zarina, Omran, Ali Darvishi, et al., 2021. Global air quality and COVID-19 pandemic: do we breathe cleaner air? Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 21 (4), 200567. http://dx.doi.org/10.4209/aaqr. 200567.
- Tullo, Alexander H., 2020. US chemical industry is in for a brutal 2020. Chem. Eng. News.
- Tyagi, Bhishma, Choudhury, Goutam, Vissa, Naresh Krishna, Singh, Jyotsna, Tesche, Matthias, 2021. Changing air pollution scenario during COVID-19: Redefining the hotspot regions over India. Environ. Pollut. 271, 116354. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.116354.
- UN, 2016. The Sustainable Development Agenda. United Nations, https://www. un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/.
- UN, 2021. UNHCR figures at a glance. https://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance. html.
- Van Bavel, Jay J., Baicker, Katherine, Boggio, Paulo S., Capraro, Valerio, Cichocka, Aleksandra, Cikara, Mina, Crockett, Molly J., Crum, Alia J., Douglas, Karen M., Druckman, James N., 2020. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. Nat. Hum. Behav. 1–12.
- van de Ven, Dirk-Jan, 2022. COVID-19 recovery packages can benefit climate targets and clean energy jobs, but scale of impacts and optimal investment portfolios differ among major economies. One Earth 5 (9), 1042–1054. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2022.08.008.
- Vlam, Roland de, 2020. Renewable Energy Subsidies and COVID-19 in the Netherlands. Loyens Loeff, https://www.loyensloeff.com/en/en/news/newsarticles/renewable-energy-subsidies-and-covid-19-in-the-netherlandsn19168/. (Accessed 14 November 2020).
- Vohra, Karn, Vodonos, Alina, Schwartz, Joel, Marais, Eloise A., Sulprizio, Melissa P., Mickley, Loretta J., 2021. Global mortality from outdoor fine particle pollution generated by fossil fuel combustion: Results from GEOS-Chem. Environ. Res. 195, 110754. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.110754.
- Volcovici, Valerie, DiSavino, Scott, 2020. U.S. power industry may ask key employees to live at work if coronavirus worsens. Reuters.
- Wang, Xue-Chao, Klemeš, Jiří Jaromír, Dong, Xiaobin, Fan, Weiguo, Xu, Zihan, Wang, Yutao, Varbanov, Petar Sabev, 2019. Air pollution terrain nexus: A review considering energy generation and consumption. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 105, 71–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.01.049.
- WattUtilities, 2020. Ofgem Letter to Suppliers & Networks Outlines COVID-19 Coping Strategies. Watt Utilities, https://watt.co.uk/ofgem-letter-suppliersnetworks-outlines-covid-19-coping-strategies/. (Accessed 7 September 2020).
- Wheelock, David C, 2020. What can we learn from the spanish flu pandemic of 1918-19 for COVID-19? Econ. Synopses (30).
- WHO, 2019. How Air Pollution is Destroying Our Health. ISO, p. 690, URL https://www.who.int/air-pollution/news-and-events/how-air-pollutionis-destroying-our-health.
- WHO, 2020a. Ambient (Outdoor) Air Pollution. World Health Organization, https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)air-guality-and-health. (Accessed 2 September 2020).
- WHO, 2020b. Mortality from Household Air Pollution. World Health Organization, https://www.who.int/gho/phe/indoor\_air\_pollution/burden/en/.
- WHO, 2020c. Strengthening Preparedness for COVID-19 in Cities and Urban Settings: Interim Guidance for Local Authorities. World Health Organization.
- Wilkinson, Paul, Smith, Kirk R., Joffe, Michael, Haines, Andrew, 2007. A global perspective on energy: health effects and injustices. Lancet 370 (9591), 965–978.
- Wright, Christina Goldbaum, Will, 2020. Existential peril': mass transit faces huge service cuts across U.S. The New York Times.
- Wu, Xiaoxu, Lu, Yongmei, Zhou, Sen, Chen, Lifan, Xu, Bing, 2016. Impact of climate change on human infectious diseases: Empirical evidence and human adaptation. Environ. Int. 86, 14–23.

- Wu, Xiao, Nethery, Rachel C., Sabath, Benjamin M., Braun, Danielle, Dominici, Francesca, 2020. Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States. medRxiv.
- Xu, Chen, Song, Yu, Han, Mengdi, Zhang, Haixia, 2021. Portable and wearable self-powered systems based on emerging energy harvesting technology. Microsyst. Nanoeng. 7 (1), 25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41378-021-00248-7
- Xu, Muyu, Zhang, Min, Daly, Tom, 2020. China to Allocate \$57 Billion to Environment Protection. Reuters, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-chinaenvironment-budget-idUSKBN22Y0BU, Editing by Shri Navaratnam.
- Yongjian, Zhu, Jingu, Xie, Fengming, Huang, Liqing, Cao, 2020. Association between short-term exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 infection: Evidence from China. Sci. Total Environ. 138704.
- Yuan, Man, Yan, Mingrui, Shan, Zhuoran, 2021. Is compact urban form good for air quality? A case study from China based on hourly smartphone data. Land 10 (5), 504.
- Zhang, Junyi, 2020. How did people respond to the COVID-19 pandemic during its early stage? A case study in Japan. A case study in Japan (may 7, 2020).
- Zhang, Wenxiao, Yun, Xiao, Meng, Wenjun, Xu, Haoran, Zhong, Qirui, Yu, Xinyuan, Ren, Yu'ang, Shen, Huizhong, Chen, Yilin, Shen, Guofeng, Ma, Jianmin, Cheng, Hefa, Li, Bengang, Liu, Junfeng, Wang, Xuejun, Tao, Shu, 2021. Urban residential energy switching in China between 1980 and 2014 prevents 2.2 million premature deaths. One Earth 4 (11), 1602–1613. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.10.013.

- Zhang, Xin, Zhang, Xiaobo, Chen, Xi, 2017. Happiness in the air: How does a dirty sky affect mental health and subjective well-being? J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 85, 81–94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2017.04.001.
- Zhao, Yang, Richardson, Brad, Takle, Eugene, Chai, Lilong, Schmitt, David, Xin, Hongwei, 2019. Airborne transmission may have played a role in the spread of 2015 highly pathogenic avian influenza outbreaks in the United States. Sci. Rep. 9 (1), 1–10.
- Zheng, Bo, Geng, Guannan, Ciais, Philippe, Davis, Steven J., Martin, Randall V., Meng, Jun, Wu, Nana, Chevallier, Frederic, Broquet, Gregoire, Boersma, Folkert, 2020. Satellite-based estimates of decline and rebound in China's CO<sub>2</sub> emissions during COVID-19 pandemic. Sci. Adv. 6 (49), eabd4998.
- Zheng, Ruizhi, Xu, Yu, Wang, Weiqing, Ning, Guang, Bi, Yufang, 2020a. Spatial transmission of COVID-19 via public and private transportation in China. Travel Med. Infect. Dis. 34, 101626. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020. 101626.
- Zheng, Ruizhi, Xu, Yu, Wang, Weiqing, Ning, Guang, Bi, Yufang, 2020b. Spatial transmission of COVID-19 via public and private transportation in China. Travel Med. Infect. Dis.
- Zoran, Maria A., Roxana S. Savastru, Dan M. Savastru, Tautan, Marina N., 2020. Assessing the relationship between surface levels of PM2.5 and PM10 particulate matter impact on COVID-19 in Milan, Italy. Sci. Total Environ. 738, 139825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139825.